

Tospoviruses on Ornamentals

Gabriella Kazinczi* • József Horváth • András Takács

University of Pannonia, Institute for Plant Protection, Keszthely, Hungary

Corresponding author: * kg@georgikon.hu

ABSTRACT

The ornamental industry has experienced tremendous growth in the past 50 years and has developed into one of the major economic branches of modern agriculture. Tospoviruses are one of the major pathogens of ornamentals all over the world, reducing their aesthetic value and profitability. The rapid emergence and marked geographic spread of tospoviruses is due to the enhancement of the international trade of propagative materials and their final products. The distribution of tospoviruses was generally preceeded by a rapid expansion of their efficient new vector, *Frankliniella occidentalis*. In this review, we give a short account of the history and distribution of tospoviruses, and describe the host range, genetic and transmission studies, isolation and detection methods. Finally conventional and transgenic means for their control are described.

Keywords: control, genetics, ornamentals, symptoms, tospoviruses, transmission

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
SHORT HISTORY OF TOSPOVIRUSES	
DESCRIPTION OF TOSPOVIRUSES	
Distribution	
Transmission	
Morphology and genetics of Tospoviruses	
Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV)	
Small (S) RNA of TSWV	
S RNA of INSV, Watermelon silver mottle virus (WSMoV) and Groundnut bud necrosis virus (GBNV)	
Medium (M) RNAs of TSWV and INSV	
Large (L) RNAs of TSWV and INSV	
Iris yellow spot virus (IYSV)	
Chrysanthemum stem necrosis virus (CSNV) and Zucchini lethal chlorosis virus (ZLCV)	
Melon yellow spot virus (MYSV)	
Peanut chlorotic fan-spot virus (PCFV)	
S RNA of Calla lily chlorotic spot virus (CCSV)	
Naturally occurring defective forms of tospoviruses	
Morphologically defective forms	147
Defective interfering (DI) isolates	
Host range and symptoms with special regards to ornamentals – tospovirus relations	
General	
Ornamentals	
Tospovirus members	
ISOLATION AND IDENTIFICATION	
CONVENTIONAL MEANS FOR THEIR CONTROL AND ERADICATION	
Good sanitation controls tospoviruses	
Biological control	
Chemical control	
TRANSGENIC MEANS FOR TOSPOVIRUSES CONTROL AND ERADICATIONS	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND CHALLENGES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

The ornamental industry – including vegetatively and seed propagated cut flower crops, bulb and corm crops, pot (foliage and flower) and bedding plants, and tree nursery products – has experienced tremendous growth in the past 50 years and has developed into one of the major economic

branches of modern agriculture. It has become a global industry with commercial production in almost every country, and international trade has expanded rapidly. The Rabobank in The Netherlands estimated that world-wide sales of ornamental horticultural products in 1990 were more that 50 billion USA dollars. Within this total the most important category was cut flowers with retail sales of 24 billion USA

Received: 21 March, 2007. Accepted: 1 October, 2007.

dollars, followed by 14.3 billion in sales of pot plants, 7.6 billion of tree nursery products, 900 million of flower bulbs and 1.6 billion of other propagation material (Hack et al. 1992; de Kleijn et al. 1992) În 1990, the largest exporter of cut flowers and pot plants was Holland, with 59 and 48% of world exports, respectively (Loebenstein et al. 1995). In 2004, the world floriculture products was around 75 billion USA dollars. Three leading production countries are the Netherlands, 3.6 billion EURO; US, 5.18 billion USA dollars and Japan, 3.47 billion USA dollars. The proportion of different floriculture products varies greatly between countries. The main floriculture products are: Germany cut flowers (45.3%); the Netherlands cut flowers (48.5%) and potted flowers (34.8%); in the US bedding and garden plants (51.8%), but 15.7% cut flowers; in China potted flowers (39.1%) and cut flowers (31.6%), while in Columbia cut flowers dominate at 99.3% (Laws 2004). Around these three countries, three biggest producing and market regions have gradually formed: European Union-Africa region, North America region and Asia-Pacific region (Xia et al. 2006).

Ornamental plants are produced for their aesthetic value. Maintaining this aesthetic value is the major concern of ornamental production facilities. The major factors reducing plant quality are arthropods and disease pests, whose abundance are highly increased due to enhanced international trade of propagative materials and their final products. *Frankliniella occidentalis* is probably the most serious pest of floriculture crops in the world (Parella 1995). They damage plants directly by feeding and laying eggs on the plants, and indirectly by acting as vectors for tospoviruses (such as *Tomato spotted wilt virus*, TSWV and *Impatiens necrotic spot virus*, INSV), one of the major threats for the ornamental industry.

SHORT HISTORY OF TOSPOVIRUSES

The earliest report of a tospovirus member occurred in the 1930s, when it was demonstrated that 'spotted wilt disease' of tomato first described in Australia in 1915 (Brittlebank 1919), had a viral etiology (Samuel et al. 1930). This virus, named Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) was subsequently shown to be the causal agent of a variety of other diseases, including leaf curl of gram (Reddy et al. 1983), brown pod of pea (Reifschneider et al. 1989), tomato and tobacco carcova, tobacco kromnek, pineapple yellow spot, pineapple side rot, tomato bronze leaf, Kat river disease, makhorka tip chlorosis and 'vira cabeca' (Francki and Hatta 1981). The virus was shown to be spread by thrips, a large family of minute insects (Pittman 1927). These discoveries were followed by an increase in the number of publications on the occurrence of TSWV in many countries on a large number of host plants. The first record of the disease outside of Australia was from the United Kingdom (Smith 1931), with subsequent reports from many countries in Europe, America and Africa during the 1930s (Best 1968) and recently also in Asia (Chen et al. 2005; Lin et al. 2005). From the early 1980s a rapid emergence and marked geographic spread of TSWV took place (Marchoux et al. 1991; Vaira et al. 1993) which was generally preceded by a rapid expansion of its efficient new vector, Frankliniella occidentalis

Similarly, in Australia, the frequency and distribution of outbreaks increased in the 1990s due to the arrival and dispersal of *F. occidentalis* (Persley *et al.* 2006). TSWV ranks among the ten economically most important plant viruses, causing crop losses worldwide worth more than \$1 billion (Goldbach and Peters 1994). In the late 1980's a new virus was recognized, *Impatiens necrotic spot virus* (INSV) (earlier TSWV-I), which was the first virus recognized as a separate tospovirus. Its name was first proposed by Law *et al.* in 1991. It was initially reported on New Guinea impatiens in the USA (Law and Moyer 1989), causing severe losses in the floral crop industry in the United States and Europe (Moyer *et al.* 1999).

DESCRIPTION OF TOSPOVIRUSES

Distribution

The tospoviruses are a highly cosmopolitan virus group now considered to have a wordwide distribution, with one or more having been recorded in over 50 different countries, representing all five continents (Gáborjányi *et al.* 1994, 1995; Mumford *et al.* 1996).

TSWV and INSV pose a major threat to the glasshouse industries of North America and Western Europe (Allen and Matteoni 1988; Hausbeck *et al.* 1992; Goldbach and Peters 1994), including The Netherlands (de Ávila *et al.* 1992), France (Marchoux *et al.* 1991), Italy (Vaira *et al.* 1993) and Spain (Lavina and Battle 1994), and recently in Asia (Adkins *et al.* 2005).

INSV has become a major pathogen on flower crops in greenhouse grown plants in the USA (Daughtrey *et al.* 1997). The distribution of other, recently developed new tospoviruses is restricted to smaller areas.

Transmission

One of the main factors contributing to the global status of the tospoviruses as pathogens, is the tenacity of their vectors. The tospoviruses are transmitted by thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripidae) with a number of species acting in this role (German *et al.* 1992).

Only 9 of the 5500 known species of thrips have been shown to be associated with any disease. Thus less than 0.2% of Thysanoptera species are known to be associated with tospoviruses. Only five of the 160 described species of *Frankliniella* genus are known vectors of tospoviruses, only three of the 280 species of the genus *Thrips*, and just one of the 9 species of *Scirtothrips* (Mound 1998). Recent studies proved that one of each genus of *Ceratothripoides* (Premachandra *et al.* 2005) and *Tenothrips* (Ghotbi and Baniameri (2006) can also be vectors.

Earlier *Thrips tabaci* was considered the major global vector of TSWV (Cho *et al.* 1989; Marchoux *et al.* 1991), but its status has now declined; later studies showed it to be incapable of transmitting some Hawaiian TSWV isolates (Cho *et al.* 1991; German *et al.* 1992).

Currently, the most important vector of TSWV is Western flower thrips (*Frankliniella occidentalis* Pergande) (Goldbach and Peters 1994). The global spread of *F. occidentalis*, a significant horticultural pest that began in the late 1970, had been previously confined to the western coast of North America. The spread across the USA and Europe was almost concurrent, aided by the huge increase in the national and international movement of plant material (Kirk and Terry 2003).

All thrips species which transmit tospoviruses occur widely accross the globe and are polyphagous in nature, infesting most ornamentals, too. One exception is *T. setosus*, occurring mainly on dahlia and narcissus and whose distribution area is limited to Japan and Korea (Umeya *et al.* 1988; Palmer *et al.* 1991).

Phylogenetically, the *Scirtothrips* genus is very distant from the first two genera (*Thrips* and *Frankliniella*) (Mound 1996). These minute, polyphagous insects form a large and diverse group with many species being regarded as serious crop pests in their own right (Lewis 1973). Transmission of plant viruses by thrips is not unique to the tospoviruses. Thrips, especially *T. tabaci*, have been shown to transmit a number of other viruses, including *Tobacco streak virus* (Sdoodee and Teakle 1987), *Prunus necrotic ringspot virus* (PNRSV) (Greber *et al.* 1991), *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* (MCMV) (Ullman *et al.* 1992) and *Sowbane mosaic virus* (SoMV) (Hardy and Teakle 1992). Although other viruses can be transmitted by thrips species, the tospoviruses are the only ones transmitted in a persistent, circulative manner (Ullman *et al.* 1992), involving a highly specific virus-vector interaction.

One of the most outstanding features of the thrips-tos-

povirus relation is the inability of adults to acquire the virus. Tospoviruses are acquired only by the first (L1) and second (L2) larval stages and can be readily transmitted in the L2 and adult stages (Sakimura 1963). For *F. occidentalis* the acquisition access period (AAP50) and inoculation access period (IAP50) needed for 50% of the thrips to acquire and inoculate TSWV are 67 min and 59 min, respectively. The median latent period (LP50) decreases with increasing temperature, and ranges between 80 and 170 hrs. Once the virus is acquired, it is passed transtadially and thrips remain infectious for life (Wijkamp and Peters 1993; Wijkamp *et al.* 1995).

Early attempts to elucidate the underlying mechanism of this differential acquisition investigated differences in gut pH and redox potential in adults and larvae. Studies recently on F. occidentalis have revealed that while both adults and larvae ingested the virus, hence ruling out differences in feeding behaviour as an explanation, a midgut barrier prevented the movement of the virus out of the midgut of adults (Ullman et al. 1992). It was found that virions accumulated within the gut epithelium of adults. The virus could not be detected by ELISA, in adults after 4 days (Cho et al. 1991). In contrast, the virus was detected beyond this point in larvae, being present in midgut epithelia, fat body, brain, nerve cells, and probably more importantly within the haemocoel and salivary glands (Ullman et al. 1992). The exact mechanism of exclusion is unknown, but analogies with other members of the Bunyaviridae with insect vectors might result in attachment and processing of virus particles (Ludwig et al. 1989).

The mechanism of viral penetration into thrips cells is unknown, but histological evidence suggests uptake across the apical midgut epithelial membrane occurs within smooth vesicles, indicating that the process is receptor-mediated endocytosis (German et al. 1992; Ullman et al. 1992). This hypothtesis would agree with evidence collected for other enveloped viruses that suggest an endocytotic pathway (Marsh 1984; Ludwig et al. 1989). The identified 55 kD protein (Bandla et al. 1995), which occurs in the midgut of F. occidentalis and which binds to TSWV glycoprotein may have a key role in this process. The full details of cellular recognition events are as yet unknown, but with advances in this area expanding rapidly, for example in the use of thrips cell culture (Hsu et al. 1991; Hunter and Hsu 1995), the mechanisms behind differential acquisition may soon be elucidated. This in turn will also provide an insight into other specifity mechanisms, within the thrips-tospovirus interactions, e.g. why non-vector thrips species cannot acquire the virus and how certain species differentially acquire and transmit specific tospoviruses.

Once larvae have acquired the virus, it persists within the thrips, being passed transtadially from larval to pre-pupal to pupal stages. Adult thrips remain viruliferous for their entire lives (Sakimura 1962). Evidence suggests that not only are the tospoviruses circulative, but are also propagative, with the virus replicating within the vector. Attempts to demonstrate replication in the past were unsuccessful (Best 1968), but later works provided evidence to support a propagative relationship. The evidence comes in three parts. Firstly, serological data shows that virus concentration varies within the vectors, with levels decreasing towards pupation and then increasing again post-emergence. Secondly, cDNA probes could detect both genomic and complementary RNAs within thrips. Finally, immunogold labeling has permitted detection of the non-structural protein of virus within infected F. occidentalis (Cho et al. 1991; Urban et al. 1991; Ullman et al. 1992, 1993; Wijkamp et al. 1993; Ullman et al. 1995)

Transmission is primarily carried out by adult thrips, although sometimes rarely by larvae (Sakimura 1963). Once a viruliferous thrips enters adulthood, its potential for infecting plants is very high for a number of reasons. Tospoviruses persist within their vectors throughout their lives. This implies a period of between 30 to 40 days on average (Best 1968). During this period, the adults will feed actively, dispersing widely upon emergence and feeding on many different plants (Lewis 1973). The chances of the plant becoming infected are also enhanced due to a short inoculation access period, with a duration of only five minutes (Sakimura 1963), so extensive feeding on each plant visited is not required. When combined, these factors supply the potential for an individual viruliferous thrips to infect a large number of plants.

The main external influence on the virus-vector relationship is the host plant. Acquisition relies greatly on the piercing-sucking feeding behaviour of thrips (Hunter and Ullman 1992). Plant cell walls are breached and the cytoplasm ingested, along with any infecting virus. The efficiency of acquisition relies heavily upon two factors: The feeding preferences of the vector and the viral distribution within the material being fed upon. The dynamics of the thrips-plant-virus interaction are obviously far more complex and many other factors, including temperature have an important role, which must be combined with the other significant variables in order to produce a fuller epidemiological model. It may greatly help in effective disease control.

Wijkamp *et al.* (1995) proved distinct levels of specifity in thrips transmission of tospoviruses. Transmission efficiencies were determined for four thrips species (*F. occidenttalis, F. schultzei, F. intosa, T. tabaci*) and four tospovirus members (TSWV, INSV, *Tomato chlorotic spot virus*, TCSV, *Groundnut ringspot virus*, GRSV) by using a petunia leaf disk assay system. *F. occidentalis* appeared to be the most effective for the four tospovirus tested. A dark form of *F. schultzei* transmitted three tospoviruses, whereas a light form of this species transmitted TSWV and TCSV rather poorly. *F. intosa* transmitted TSWV efficiently and TCSV at a very low frequency. Only one of four populations of *T. tabaci* was able to transmit TSWV at a low efficiency.

The mechanism leading to vector competence of thrips species to transmit TSWV is not well characterized. The interaction of TSWV and the non-vector species *F. tritici* was investigated. A monoclonal antibody to the non-structural protein (NSs) of the TSWV was used to detect TSWV replication within the thrips by immunofluorescence microscopy and ELISA. TSWV was aquired by *F. tritici*, replicated and moved within the alimentary canal of *F. tritici*, similar to a known vector of TSWV, *F. occidentalis*. However, the virus was not found in the salivary glands of *F. tritici*, which is prerequisite to virus transmission. Thus, the movement to the salivary glands may determine vector incompetence of *F. tritici* (Filho *et al.* 2005).

On the basis of the latest research it was proved that TSWV can activate the immune system of its main vector, *F. occidentalis.* This is the first report of the activation of an insect vector immune response by a plant virus. This may lead to a better understanding of an insect's immune responses against viruses and may help in the future development of novel control strategies against plant viruses as well as human and animal viruses transmitted by insect vectors (Medeiros *et al.* 2004).

Beside thrips transmission, the spread of tospovirus also occurs with vegetatively propagated material such as tubers, corms, cuttings, etc. of many ornamental species. Infected (not adequately tested) mother stocks may be infection sources (Wilson 2001; Adkins 2003).

TSWV persists from year to year in flower bulbs or roots. Lilies and dahlias are a common source of the virus (Swift 2003). There was a report about seed transmission via tomato and *Cineraria* seeds (Crowley 1957), while later studies suggest that seed transmission does not occur amongst tospoviruses (Mumford 1995; Antignus *et al.* 1997), neither in petunia nor in *Celosia* seeds. Therefore – as far as we know – tospoviruses are not considered seedborne. In addition, due to the highly unstable nature of tospoviruses in the plants (Best 1968), mechanical transmission and spreading by contact under normal field or glasshouse conditions is very unlikely.

Due to their wide host range (especially for TSWV) among crops, weeds and ornamentals, there are many pot-

ential sources of inoculum. Most other tospoviruses seem to have narrower host ranges and the role of alternative hosts in their epidemiology as not as clear.

Morphology and genetics of Tospoviruses

The family of Bunyaviridae is divided into five genera, based on similarities in molecular structure of their genones, biological properties and physical aspects of protein and virion morphology. The genus tospovirus contains viruses that infect plants. The four other genera, Bunyavirus, Hantavirus, Nairovirus and Phlebovirus, contain over 300 viruses that infect animals. Members of the Hantavirus genus are spread by aerosols of saliva and animal excrement while members of the other four genera have specific relationships with arthropod vectors, in which they also replicate (Nichol *et al.* 2005).

Among tospoviruses, molecular characterization was first described for TSWV and INSV, and later for other recently identified tospovirus members.

Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV)

The morphology of the tospoviruses is typical for members of the Bunyaviridae (Elliott 1990). Measuring 80 to 110 nm in diameter, the particles of TSWV consist of an outer membrane envelope, roughly spherical in shape. Embedded within this membrane, and projecting from its surface, are two glycoproteins denoted G1 (78 kD) and G2 (58 kD) (Tas et al. 1977; Mohamed 1981). Enveloped within the particle are three linear single-stranded RNAs, the S (2.9 kb), M (4.8 kb) and L (8.9 kb) RNA (de Haan *et al.* 1990, 1991; Law et al. 1992). Among the tripartite ssRNA genome one segment is negatively polar and the other two are ambisense. These RNAs are found in tight association with the 29 kD N protein (de Haan et al. 1990), forming the pseudo-circular nucleocapsid complexes (de Haan et al. 1989). In addition, particles also contain approximately 10 copies of the 331.5 kD L protein, the viral replicase (de Haan et al. 1991; van Poelwijk et al. 1993) (Figs. 1, 2).

The virus particles are unstable, with a thermal inactivation point (10 min) of 40-46°C, a longevity *in vitro* at room temperature of 2-5 hrs and a dilution end-point between 2×10^{-2} and 10^{-4} .

Small (S) RNA of TSWV

The nucleotide sequences of the three genomic RNAs of TSWV have been determined and expression strategies elucidated. When the complete nucleotide sequence of the S RNA of TSWV isolate BR-01 was determined (de Haan *et al.* 1990), it revealed the presence of two open reading frames (ORFs), linked by an A-U rich intergenic region.



Fig. 1 Morphology of TSWV.

The genomic RNA possesses an ambisense coding strategy, whereby gene products are expressed from subgenomic mRNAs of opposite sense. The larger ORF is in the viral sense and encodes a protein with a predicted weight of 52.4 kD (the NSs protein). This non-structural protein is found in dense aggregates within the host cytoplasm, often forming fibrous or crystalline structures (Kormelink et al. 1991; Urban et al. 1991). Its function remains unclear, although the protein does appear to have a role in pathogenicity, with the levels of NSs correlating with the severity of symptoms (Goldbach et al. 1993). It may be involved in vector transmission. The other ORF in the complementary sense encodes for the N protein, whose predicted size (28.8 kD) compares favourably with direct measurements of its size (29 kD) determined by SDS-PAGE (Tas et al. 1977; Mohamed 1981). The intergenic region is predicted to have a stable secondary structure, forming a hairpin loop.



S RNA of INSV, Watermelon silver mottle virus (WSMoV) and Groundnut bud necrosis virus (GBNV)

The full sequence of the S RNA of INSV (isolate NL-07) has also been determined. It is 3016 nucleotides in length and has an identical coding strategy and gene structure to TSWV, with marginal differences in size and variation in sequence (de Haan *et al.* 1992). The S RNAs of WSMoV (Yeh and Chang 1995) and GBNV (Satyanarayana *et al.* 1995) are 3534 and 3057 nucleotides in length, respectively while the S RNA of the GBNV sequenced by Maiss (1995) is 3536 nucleotides in length. All have the characteristic co-ding strategy, although some have unusually long intergenic regions. The features of twin ORFs expressed by an ambisense coding strategy and intergenic hairpin structure, which are found in the tospovirus S RNA, are also found in members of the Phlebovirus genus, an animal Bunyaviridae group (Elliott 1990).

Medium (M) RNAs of TSWV and INSV

The complete RNA sequences have also been obtained for the M RNAs of TSWV and INSV (Kormelink et al. 1992; Law et al. 1992) and reveal many features in common with their respective S RNAs. The M RNA contains two ORFs, which are separated by an A-U rich intergenic region, which forms a stable hairpin. These two ORF are expressed via subgenomic mRNAs, in an ambisense manner (Kormelink et al. 1992; Law et al. 1992). This double ambisense arrangement (used for both and M RNAs) is unique within the Bunyaviridae, with all the other members possessing a negative-strand M RNA (Elliott 1990). Of the two ORFs on the M RNA, the complementary (negative) sense ORF encodes a single, large gene product with predicted sizes of 127.4 and 124.9 kD, for TSWV and INSV, respectively. This product is assumed to be the precursor of the glycoproteins, G1 and G2.

The other ORF in the viral sense encodes a small 33.6 and 34.1 kD protein for TSWV and INSV, respectively, designated by NSm (Kormelink *et al.* 1994). The function of the NSm protein deduced from several lines of evidence is considered to be in cell-to-cell movement (Kormelink *et al.* 1994). From these evidences a putative model for the role of NSm in viral transport has been suggested, the NSm binding to uncoated nucleocapsid, in the cytoplasm, but once at the plasmodesmata, uncoating to form a tubular structure, passing through into the neigbouring cell via the plasmodesmata, through which the nucleocapsid travels (Goldbach *et al.* 1993).

Large (L) RNAs of TSWV and INSV

The L RNAs of TSWV and INSV have also been fully sequenced (de Haan et al. 1991). The segment contains a large, single ORF, with a negative polarity, a feature of all Bunyaviride members (Elliott 1990). This ORF is transcribed into a subgenomic RNA, from which the putative viral replicase is translated. Estimates of this protein's size, approximately 200 kD, taken from SDS-PAGE studies (Tas et al. 1977; Mohamed 1981), vary considerably from that predicted from the sequence, 331.5 kD and 330.3 kD for TSWV and INSV, respectively. When the L RNA ORF of TSWV is expressed in bacteria a 330 kD protein is produced. When this protein was used to raise an antiserum, it was found that this cross-reacted with the purified virus (van Poelwijk et al. 1993) and as no protein processing was observed (the antiserum only reacted with the full-sized protein), it can be assumed that the earlier estimates of 200 kD were anomalies generated by the SDS-PAGE system used.

Comparisons of the L protein with that of other Bunyaviridae shows a surprising trend. While studies with other RNA segments have shown the tospoviruses to be most closely related to the phleboviruses, the L RNA does not follow this pattern. When aligned, the highest level of homology is found with sequence data for Bunyamwera virus (Elliott 1989), the prototype bunyavirus, with 27% identity at the amino acid level (de Haan *et al.* 1991). Little homology was found between the predicted amino acid sequences of TSWV L protein and those of Rift Valley fever and Uukuniemi phleboviruses (Elliott *et al.* 1992).

Nucleotide sequence comparisons with other RNA polymerases suggest that the product of the L ORF is the viral RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). Several amino acid motifs are present which are also present in a range of putative polymerases from RNA viruses (Poch *et al.* 1989). These motifs may be involved in various aspects of polymerase function and the RNA replication process. In addition, Jin and Elliott (1993) have shown recombinant vaccinia virus, expressing the L protein from Bunyamwera virus, has both RNA transcriptase and replicase activity. Finally, detergent-disrupted virions have been shown to have RdRp activity (German *et al.* 1995).

Iris yellow spot virus (IYSV)

Serological and molecular characterization of IYSV was done by Cortes *et al.* (1998). The N protein of IYSV had an estimated size of 30 kD. In RNA analysis, the size of S, M and L RNA corresponds to 2.9, 4.8 and 8.9 kb, respectively. Molecular cloning and sequence determination, characteristics and predicted gene products, and expression of the vcORF of IYSV S RNA were also described.

Chrysanthemum stem necrosis virus (CSNV) and Zucchini lethal chlorosis virus (ZLCV)

Molecular cloning, sequence determination and analysis of CSNV and ZLCV N protein genes were done by Bezzera *et al.* (1999). Analysis of the genomic RNAs of CSNV and ZLCV revealed the presence of three RNA segments with sizes corresponding to those of RNAs of TSWV. The nucleotide sequences of the nucleoapsid (N) genes of both viruses contain 780 nucleotides encoding for deduced proteins of 260 amino acids, with a predicted size of 29 kDa. The 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the S RNA of ZLCV was revealed to be much longer (220 bases) than that of all the other tospovirus species (approximately 130 bp).

Melon yellow spot virus (MYSV)

Kato *et al.* (2000) did the molecular and serological analysis of MYSV. Viral nucleocapsid (N) was purified with two protective reagents, and RNA extracted from the viral nucleocapsid was used for genomic analysis. The virus had a genome consisting of three single-stranded RNA molecules. The ORF on the viral complementary strand, located at the 3' end of the viral S RNA, encoded the N protein. The molecular mass was estimated to be 31.9 kDa and comprised 279 amino acids. The 3' terminus of the S RNA contained an eight-nucleotide sequence similar to the conserved sequence at the 3' end of genomic RNA molecules of tospoviruses.

Peanut chlorotic fan-spot virus (PCFV)

To characterize the virus, viral S double-stranded RNA was extracted from PCFV-infected *Chenopodium quinoa* and used for cDNA cloning and sequencing. The full length viral strand of the S RNA was determined to be 2833 nucleotides, with an inverted repeat at the 5' and 3' ends and two open reading frames in an ambisense arrangement. The 3' terminal sequence (5'-AUUGCUCU-3') of the viral S RNA is identical to that of other tospoviruses, indicating that PCFV is a member of the tospovirus genus. The N and the NSs proteins of PCFV share low amino acid identities with other tospoviruses. The N ORF was 810 nts, encoding a predicted protein of 270 amino acids, with a calculated molecular mass of 31.1 kDa. The ORF started at nucleotide 253 with an AUG start codon and terminated at nucleotide 1943 with an UAA stop codon. The phylogenetic dendrogram of the N gene of PCFV compared with those of other tospoviruses indicated that PCFV is a distinct tospovirus. In hybridization analyses, and N gene cDNA probe of PCFV did not react with viral RNAs of other tospoviruses and vice versa (Chu *et al.* 2001).

S RNA of Calla lily chlorotic spot virus (CCSV)

DNA fragments corresponding to the S RNA of CCSV were amplified from total RNA extracted from CCSV-infected plants, cloned and sequenced. The full-length viral strand of the S RNA was determined as 3172 nucleotides in length, with an inverted repeat at the 5' and 3' ends and two open reading frames in an ambisense arrangement. The 3' terminal sequence (5'-AUUGCUCU-3') of the viral S RNA was found to be identical to that of other tospoviruses, confirming that CCSV belongs to the genus tospovirus. The N and the NSs proteins of CCSV share low amino acid identities, 20.9 to 65.1% and 19.9 to 66.1%, respectively, with those of reported tospoviruses (TSWV, GRSV, TCSV, CSNV, ZLCV, INSV, WSMoV, PBNV, WBNV, CaCV, PSMV, MYSV, IYSV, TYFRV, PYSV and PCFV). The phylogenetic dendrogram of the N protein of CCSV compared with those of other tospoviruses in WSMoV serogroup indicates that CCSV is a distinct tospovirus. Thus, based on the results of molecular characterization of S RNA, it was concluded that CCSV is a new tospovirus species belonging to the WSMoV serogroup (Lin et al. 2006).

Within the tospovirus genome, several regions have been found to have a putative role in gene regulation. The first of these are inverted complementary repeat sequences found at the termini of the RNA molecules (de Haan *et al.*) 1989). These 65-70 nt sequences are thought to bind together, non-covalently forming the linear molecules into circular nucleocapsids (hence pseudo-circular), once encapsidation has occurred. A similar process, modulated by equivalent terminal sequences, has been recorded in other Bunyaviridae (Elliott 1990). These terminal sequences may also contain other motifs that control replication (de Haan et al. 1989). Sequence data from the S, M and L RNAs of TSWV (de Haan et al. 1990, 1991; Kormelink et al. 1992) and S and M RNAs of INSV Law et al. 1991, 1992) revealed a consensus terminal sequence of 8 nt (GAUUGC UC-3') which should function in this role. Again, similar but distinct genus-specific consensus termini have been recorded throughout the Bunyaviridae (Boulay 1991).

In addition to viral sequences with regulatory roles, non-viral sequences have also been found spliced onto the 5' termini of viral mRNAs (Kormelink et al. 1992). These 12-20 nt sequences are presumed to act as primers, initiating the transcription of the mRNAs. This process, known as 'cap-snatching' (where the primers are generated by cleavage from capped host mRNAs), is found amongst animal viruses, including the Bunyaviridae (Jin and Elliott 1993), but is unique amongst plant viruses (Kormelink et al. 1992). Comparison with the Bunyaviridae has also revealed a putative transcription termination consensus. In the Punta Toro phlebovirus S RNA, a small sequence at the peak of the intergenic hairpin loop is known to mark the point where the transcription of the subgenomic mRNAs terminates (Emery and Bishop 1987). Tospovirus S RNA species also feature such a secondary structure, as mentioned earlier. A consensus (CAAUUUGG) has been found which coincides with the peak of the hairpin, and has been designated as a putative termination motif (de Haan et al. 1992).

Naturally occurring defective forms of tospoviruses

These are found as two distinct types: Morphologically defective forms (Ie 1982; Verkleij and Peters 1983) and defective-interfering isolates (Resende *et al.* 1991).

Morphologically defective forms

Morphologically defective forms are characterized by their lack of a viral envelope, with an amorphous appearance under EM, being visualised as dark, diffuse aggregates in the host cell cytoplasm (Ie 1982; Verkleij and Peters 1983). In addition, membrane glycoproteins cannot be detected in plants infected with such isolates (Verkleij and Peters 1983). Morphologically defective forms are generated by serial mechanical inoculation through host plants (Ie 1982), although Resende et al. (1991) found that only mechanical inoculation onto Nicotiana benthamiana and not N. rustica, produced envelope-deficient particles, strongly suggesting an important role for the host in the generation of such mutants. Similar mutant isolates have also been obtained from INSV (Lawson et al. 1993), although these were generated by repeated mechanical transmission, using plants kept at elevated temperatures (24-27°C). Although the mechanism involved in triggering the generation of such defective forms is unknown, the cause is likely to be a mutation within the M RNA. Verkleij and Peters (1983) found that the M RNAs of defective isolates was smaller than those of normal isolates. This would suggest that possibly deletions had occurred within the glycoprotein ORFs, leading to a loss of at least one glycoprotein, and hence an inability to assemble the viral envelope. While Resende et al. (1991) did not find any changes in the size of the M RNA of the morphologically defective isolate that they characterised, an accumulation of point mutations, including ones leading to frameshifts, was detected (Goldbach and Peters 1994). This evidence suggests that the glycoprotein gene is no longer under selective pressure, providing circumstantial evidence for the hypothesis that the glycoproteins (and lipid envelope) are only involved in thrips transmission, with no role in the plant host (Goldbach and Peters 1994).

Defective interfering (DI) isolates

Similar to other plant viruses, DI RNAs have also been found in the Bunyamwera Bunyavirus (Patel and Elliott 1992). In TSWV and INSV, isolates possess truncated L RNAs, of 3.2 and 3.0 kb respectively, over 5 kb shorter than in non-mutant forms. In N. rustica plants infected with the DI isolate the DI RNA is preferentially produced, although some full length copies can be detected (Resende et al. 1991). While the isolates still form enveloped particles and the level of nucleocapsid protein detected was the same as in non-DI infected plants, the severity of symptoms was highly reduced (Resende et al. 1991). The causes and mechanisms behind DI RNAs are as yet unknown although further characterization of DI L RNA segments from TSWV show that, despite large internal deletions of between 60% and 80%, both 3' and 5' termini are retained (Resende *et al.* 1992). It is assumed that these termini contain all the required signals for replication and translation, but that the removal of most of the polymerase ORF prevents the production of a functional polypeptide (Resende et al. 1992).

Recent studies are about the evolution of tospoviruses and phylogenetic analysis based on sequence information for different isolates of the same virus (Mound 1998; Pappu *et al.* 2000). Dietzgen *et al.* (2005) showed that genetic variability among Australian isolates of TSWV was small. Direct sequencing of a 587 bp region of the nucleoprotein gene (S RNA) of 29 isolates from diverse crops and geographical locations yielded a maximum of only 4.3% nucleotide sequence difference. Phylogenetic analysis revealed no obvious groupings of isolates according to geographic origin or host species. Minimal differences were found between the N gene amino acid sequences of Australian isolates and these were most closely related to a clade of northern European isolates (Persley *et al.* 2006).

Little or no information is available on the prevalence of TSWV strains that differ in pathogenicity. Information on the biological variability of TSWV may be useful in developing more durable TSWV resistant crops (Mandal *et al.* 2006). Balukiewicz *et al.* (2005) found no considerable differences in biological properties of five TSWV isolates from chrysanthemum plants.

Host range and symptoms with special regards to ornamentals – tospovirus relations

General

Many viruses included in the genus have very wide host ranges and can cause problems in an extensive range of food and ornamental crop species. Tospoviruses are capable of inflicting devastating losses and have been responsible for a number of very serious epidemics (Mumford *et al.* 1996). The ability of the tospoviruses to cause such severe losses on a broad range of crops, places them amongst the most economically important plant pathogens in the world at present.

TSWV has one of the largest host ranges of any plant virus, with hosts representing over 70 different families of both monocot and dicot species (Goldbach and Peters 1994). In 1987, the largest published host list contained nearly 250 susceptible species (Cho *et al.* 1987), although the number of reported hosts has continued to grow rapidly and now far exceeds this total. An unpublished list (cited in Mumford *et al.* 1996) is reported to contain over 650 different species as hosts of tospoviruses, including over 250 species from the Solanaceae and Compositae alone (Goldbach and Peters 1994). Solanaceae is the plant family containing the largest number of TSWV hosts (Cho *et al.* 1987; German *et al.* 1992). Adkins *et al.* (2005) reported over 800 hosts of TSWV including 80 plant families.

Peters (2003) showed a host list of tospoviruses including over 1050 species, among which more than 900 species are hosts to TSWV. Host ranges for the other tospoviruses are by no means as comprehensive. Evidence exists suggesting that there is a degree of host specialization within the tospoviruses. Most tospoviruses have a moderate or small host range. IYSV has a relatively restricted host range and is commonly found only in monocots such as onion, chive and leek. INSV has a more intermediate host range but is most commonly found infecting annual and perennial ornamental crops. It is the dominant tospovirus in the glasshouse and rarely infects field crops, where TSWV is dominant (Chamberlain *et al.* 1992).

Although host ranges tend to vary from virus to virus, *N*. *benthamiana* is a good assay host for most tospoviruses.

The symptoms induced by the tospoviruses are highly varied. Symptoms may be present on leaves, stems, petioles and flower petals. On non-systemic hosts, symptoms are generally restricted to local lesions, with chlorosis and necrosis in some instances. With systemic hosts, the list is far greater. Descriptions include ring spots, line patterns, tip necrosis, veinal necrosis, wilting, stunting, silvering, mottling, bronzing, chlorosis, necrosis, stunting and a range of leaf and stem lesions (Francki and Hatta 1981; German et al. 1992). Obviously the main variable affecting symptom expression is the particular combination of virus and host, but environmental factors, host cultivar, and age of plants also have an important role (Allen et al. 1991). Differences in symptoms have also been noted between different isolates of the same virus (TSWV) on the same hosts, held at the same conditions (de Ávila et al. 1992). Therefore symptoms caused by tospoviruses are highly variable and of little diagnostic value.

Ornamentals

In ornamentals, tospovirus symptoms may mimic symptoms and injuries caused by other biotic and abiotic stresses, such as nutrient deficiencies (Daughtrey *et al.* 1995). Tospoviruses, however may be present even though the plants show no symptoms, or only long time after infection. Cyclamen for example can show no symptoms for up to two months after infection (Allen and Matteoni 1988).

The symptoms of tospovirus infections in floral crops

are listed below (Daugherty and Casey 1998; Chatzivassiliou *et al.* 2000): brown, black or white spots; necrosis of the leaf petiole; yellow mottling and variegation; death of the young plants or death of terminal meristems of older plants; stunting; brown or black cankers on the stem; veinal necrosis; concentric ring spots; mosaics; line or zonal patterns; malformation and necrosis of the flowers (**Figs. 3**, **4**).

TSWV symptoms in chrysanthemum plants are frequently distinct and they consist of chlorotic and necrotic spots or large necroses on leaves and stems as well as stunting and death of the young plants. Similar symptoms were observed due to INSV infection (Cho *et al.* 1989). Infected chrysanthemums may also remain symptomless, which is typical for many cultivars (Matteoni and Allen 1989; Bo *et al.* 1999).

Besides destroying the aesthetic value, TSWV infection significantly reduces flower fresh weight, petal number, the number of flowers on the stem and inhibits adventitious bud sprouting in perennials (Whitfield *et al.* 2003). Crop losses in flower production of *Dendranthema* spp. can reach up to 51% (Matteoni and Allen 1989). Some growers of *Sinningia speciosa* have had 100% losses due to INSV infection.

There is great variability regarding the susceptibility of chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema grandiflora*) cultivars to TSWV, e.g. in 'Fiji Yellow', 'Jewel Time' and 'Reagan White Elite' TSWV was not found, while a high (25-39%) infection rate was observed with 'Blanch', 'Divalis Intrepid', 'Sheena Yellow' and 'Puma' cultivars (Balukiewicz and Kryczynski 2005).

Basis on the findings of Antignus *et al.* (1997) the following symptoms were discerned on ornamentals due to TSWV infection. On new Guinea impatiens: chlorotic or black ringspot and line patterns on leaves, black lesions on stems, stunted plants, malformed leaves and terminal dieback; on *Asclepias tuberosa*: severe leaf vein necrosis, necrotic ringspot on leaves, severe necrosis on stem and terminal dieback; on *Eustoma*: chlorotic and necrotic leaf spots, stem necrosis, necrotic terminals, color break and flower distortion; on *Zinnia*: mild mosaic and ringspot on leaves; on *Gloxinia*: reddish spots and/or concentric brown rings on the leaves and malformed flowers.

Symptoms on *Sinningia speciosa* (gloxinia) due to INSV and TSWV were as follows: chlorotic-necrotic spots and rings on inoculated leaves; systemic chlorosis to necrosis; young plants may die, older plants may recover. On *Dendranthema grandiflorum* (chrysanthemum) due to INSV: chlorotic spots with necrotic flecks on inoculated leaves (not systemic), stunting, top necrosis, due to TSWV: chlorotic to necrotic spots on inoculated leaves; systemic symptoms: leaf collapse, veinal necrosis, stem necrosis, flower tilts to side, may kill young plants. *Petunia hybrida* due to INSV and TSWV: small necrotic pots on inoculated leaves (not systemic). On *Impatiens wallerana* due to TSWV and INSV: chlorotic to necrotic spots or rings on inoculated leaves, systemic chlorotic to necrotic spots (Cho *et al.* 1989; Daughtrey *et al.* 1997).

CSNV (which is on the list of quarantine pests of the European Plant Protection Organization (EPPO) caused typical tospovirus symptoms on host plants, inducing necrotic-chlorotic local lesions and concentric rings on the inoculated leaves, followed by vein necrosis, mosaic or mottling and leaf deformation. Severe symptoms on inoculated chrysanthemum plants were observed within 2 weeks after infection, eventually leading to the death of most plants. The experimental host range of CSNV was broad infecting 19 different hosts in seven families, including Zinnia elegans as a systemic host among ornamentals. CSNV causes mild or severe streaks on the chrysanthemum stem, wilting of leaves and stems, chlorotic and necrotic spots and rings on some leaves in The Netherlands, however CSNV can result in complete necrosis of the stem (Verhoeven et al. 1996). In Brazil, symptoms were described as necrotic lesions surrounded by yellow areas on leaves followed by necrosis on stems, penducles and floral receptacles (Duarte et al. 1995). In the British outbreak, distinct dark stem lesions with some



Fig. 4 INSV symptoms on ornamentals. (A) Coleus spp.; (B) Impatiens wallerana; (C) Begonia spp.; (D) Cyclamen spp.; (E) Nemesia spp.; (F) Verbena spp. All photos taken courtesy of Margery Daughtrey (Cornell University, Department of Plant Pathology, USA).

leaf necrosis can be seen (Mumford et al. 2003).

CCSV, a new tospovirus infecting *Zantedeschia* species in Taiwan, caused chlorotic spots on their leaves and stems (Lin *et al.* 2006). Symptoms on naturally infected calla lilies (*Zantedeschia* spp.) appeared mostly on the middle leaves of plants. Symptoms were mostly chlorosis with a few yellow spots about 2 mm in diameter radiating from the midrib toward the edge of the leaves. Inoculation of healthy calla lily seedlings with inocula prepared from CCSVinfected *N. benthamiana* produced chlorotic spots similar to those on naturally infected plants. Larger plants were however not susceptible to mechanical inoculation. After mechanical inoculation, systemic invasion of CCSV was observed only in *Benincasa hyspida*, *Gomphrena globosa* and *Zantedeschia* spp. (Chen *et al.* 2005).

Capsicum chlorosis virus (CaCV) infection results in

ringspots, linepatterns, chlorotic blotches and necrotic etching on *Hoya* spp. (Persley *et al.* 2006).

Less than 20% of greenhouse flower crop tospovirus problems have been identified as TSWV, and INSV predominates (Hausbeck *et al.* 1992; Daughtrey 1996). Roses and poinsettias are the only major greenhouse crops not susceptible to INSV. On the basis of other reports TSWV and INSV are considered as main viruses of ornamental plants, both of them infecting 600 species of ornamental plants (Daughtery *et al.* 1997; Ullman 1998). INSV was the first virus to be recorded from a fern (the glasshouse ornamental *Asplenium nidus-avis*). It is important to know that not all plants susceptible to TSWV and INSV are hosts for *F. occidentalis*.

Virological surveys of ornamentals were done recently in many countries, including the USA (Daughtrey et al. Table 1 Ornamental hosts of TSWV and INSV

Plant species	TSWV	INSV
Aconitum spp.		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Ageratum spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998	
Ageratum houstonianum		Roggero et al. 1999
Alstroemelia spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000;	Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997
	Latham and Jones 1997	
Amaryllis spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	McDonough et al. 1999
Anemone spp.	Gera et al. 1998b	Daughtrey et al. 1997
Anemone coronaria	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Antirrhinum spp.		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Antirrhinum majus	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	g
Anthurium andreanum	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998	McDonough et al. 1999
		Webbilough et ul. 1999
Aphelandra spp	Bo <i>et al.</i> 1999	
Aralia japonica	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Asia japonica		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Asparagus sprengeri	Mertelik et al. 1996	
Aster spp.	Swift 2003; Ramasso <i>et al.</i> 1994; Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000; Latham and Jones 1997	
Aster ericoides	Bo et al. 1999	
Begonia spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998; McDonough et al. 1999;	Daughtrey et al. 1997; McDonough et
8	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	al. 1999
Begonia tuperhybrida		Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997
Beloperone guttata	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Daughtey et al. 1997
1 0		
Benincasa hyspida	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Bouvardia spp.		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Bromelia spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	
<i>Browallaria</i> spp.		McDonough et al. 1999
Calendula officinalis	Latham and Jones 1997; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	e
Callistephus spp.		Daughtrey et al. 1997
	Bernard et al 1004. Chete-investiliere et al 2000	Daughtey et al. 1997
Callistephus chinensis	Ramasso et al. 1994; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	D 1 1000
<i>Capsicum</i> spp.		Roggero et al. 1999
Catharanthus roseus	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Celosia cristata	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Chrysanthemum spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Mertelik et al. 1996; Latham and Jones 1997;	Daughtrey et al. 1997; Ravnikar et al.
2 11	Kormelink et al. 1998; Ravnikar et al. 2003	2003
Chrysanthemum morifolium	Mertelik and Mokra 1998	2000
	Swift 2003	
Cineraria spp.		
Coleus barbatus	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Coleus blueri		Roggero et al. 1999
Columnea spp.		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Cordyline terminalis		Roggero et al. 1999
Cosmos spp.	Latham and Jones 1997	66
Cyclamen spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998	Daughtrey 1996; Ravnikar et al. 2003
, ,,	Cho <i>et al.</i> 1989, Kolmennik <i>et al.</i> 1998	
Cyclamen persicum		Daughtrey et al. 1997; Tóth et al. 2007
Dahlia spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998; Vicchi and Bellardi 1996;	Daughtrey et al. 1997; Roggero et al.
	Latham and Jones 1997; McDonough et al. 1999	1999; McDonough et al. 1999
Dahlia hybrida	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Delphinium spp.	Latham and Jones 1997	
Dendranthema spp.	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Dendranthema murifolium cv.	Bo <i>et al.</i> 1999	
	B0 ei ul. 1999	
Dignity; Palisade; Southing Sun		
Dendranthema × grandiflorum		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Dianthus chinensis	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Roggero et al. 1999
Dieffenbachia spp.	McDonough et al. 1999; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Dimorphotheca sinuata	Ramasso et al. 1994; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Dracaena spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	McDonough et al. 1999
Echinacea purpurea	Tóth <i>et al.</i> 2007	MeDonough et ul. 1999
* *	10til <i>ei al.</i> 2007	P (1 1000
Episcia capreata		Roggero et al. 1999
Eustoma (Lisianthus) spp.	Bo <i>et al</i> . 1999	
Eustoma grandiflorum		Daughtrey et al. 1997; Tóth et al. 2007
Eustoma russelianum		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Exacum affine		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Fuchsia hybrida	McDonough et al. 1999; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
•	McDonough et al. 1999; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000 McDonough et al. 1999; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	McDonough et al. 1999
Gazania spp.		•
Geranium spp.	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000; McDonough et al. 1999	McDonough et al. 1999
Gerbera spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998; Bo et al. 1999	Daughtrey et al. 1997
Gerbera jamesonii	Ramasso et al. 1994; Mertelik et al. 1996; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Gladiolus spp.	Latham and Jones 1997	Daughtrey et al. 1997
Godetia grandiflora		Roggero et al. 1999
Gomphrena globosa		McDonough <i>et al.</i> 1999
	Táth at al 2007	11121011011gil (1 (1, 1777)
Heuchera sanguinea	Tóth <i>et al.</i> 2007	
Hosta spp.		McDonough et al. 1999
Hoya spp.		McDonough et al. 1999
<i>Hydrangea</i> spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	McDonough et al. 1999

Plant species	TSWV	INSV
Impatiens spp.	Cho et al. 1989; Wijkamp et al. 1995; Mertelik et al. 1996;	Wijkamp et al. 1995; McDonough et
	Kormelink et al. 1998; McDonough et al. 1999	al. 1999
Impatiens balsamina	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Impatiens petersiana	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Impatiens walleriana		Daughtrey et al. 1997; Tóth et al. 2007
Impatiens New Guinea hybrids		Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997; McDonough <i>et</i>
Impatiens New Ounica hybrids		al. 1999
Iris spp.	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	u. 1999
Iris spp. Iris hollandica	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Lilium aurtum	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Kalanchoe spp.	McDonough <i>et al.</i> 1999	McDonough et al. 1999
**	McDonough et al. 1999	e
Limonium spp.	Ramasso et al. 1994	Daughtrey et al. 1997
Limonium (Goniolimon) tataricum		
Lobelia spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997; McDonough <i>et</i>
		al. 1999
Maranta leuconeura	~	Roggero et al. 1999
Matthiola incana	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Melampodium divaricatum	Holcomb and Valverde 2000	
Nasturtium spp.	Swift 2003	
Nemisia spp.	Vicchi and Bellardi 1996	
Ocimum basilicum	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Tóth <i>et al</i> . 2007
Oleander spp.	Ramasso et al. 1994	
orchids	Swift 2003	
Pelargonium spp.	Ravnikar et al. 2004; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Ravnikar et al. 2003
Pelargonium zonale	Ramasso et al. 1994	
Peperomia obtusifolia		Roggero et al. 1999
Pericallis hybrida cineraria		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Petunia spp.	McDonough et al. 1999; Swift 2003	McDonough <i>et al.</i> 1999
Petunia hybrida	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Phalaenopsis spp.	McDonough <i>et al.</i> 1999	
Phlox spp.		McDonough et al. 1999
Pittosporum spp.	Cohen et al. 1999	Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997
	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	Daughtey et ul. 1997
Portulaca grandiflora		Househools at al 1002; Doughtrow at al
Primula spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	Hausbeck <i>et al.</i> 1992; Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997
Ranunculus spp.	Gera et al. 1999; Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Daughtrey <i>et al.</i> 1997
Ranunculus asiaticus		Daughtrey et al. 1997
Saintpaulia ionantha	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Salpiglossis spp.	Swift 2003	
Salvia spp.	McDonough et al. 1999	McDonough et al. 1999
Salvia splendens	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Scindapsus aureus		Roggero et al. 1999
Schefflera spp.		McDonough et al. 1999
Schizanthus spp.	Swift 2003	
Senecio cruentus	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	Daughtrey et al. 1997
Sinningia speciosa gloxinia	Cho et al. 1989; Kormelink et al. 1998	Hausbeck et al. 1992; Daughtrey et al.
		1997
Snapdragon spp.	Latham and Jones 1997	
Solanum capsicastrum	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	
Stapelia spp.	Ramasso et al. 1994	
<i>Statice</i> spp.	Latham and Jones 1997	
Stephanotis floribunda	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Tagetes erecta	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Torenia fournieri		Roggero et al. 1999
Tradescantia albiflora	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	McDonough <i>et al.</i> 1999
Tropaeolum majus	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	1101/01104g11 t/ ul. 1777
1 0		MaDonough at al. 1000
Verbena spp.	Chatrivescilion at al 2000	McDonough et al. 1999
Viola tricolor	Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i> 2000	
Zantedeschia spp.	Mertelik <i>et al.</i> 1996; Mertelik and Mokra 1998; Chatzivassiliou <i>et al.</i>	
	2000; Swift 2003	
Zantedeschia aethiopica		Ramasso et al. 1994 ; Daughtrey et al.
		1997
Zinnia spp.	Latham and Jones 1997; Swift 2003	McDonough et al. 1999
Zinnia elegans	Chatzivassiliou et al. 2000	

1997), Brazil (Bo *et al.* 1999), Greece (Chatzivassiliou *et al.* 2000), Poland (Balukiewicz and Kryczynski 2005), the Czech Republic (Mertelik and Mokra 1998; Mertelik *et al.* 1996), Hungary (Takács *et al.* 2006; Tóth *et al.* 2007), Slovenia (Vozelj *et al.* 2003; Ravnikar *et al.* 2003), Italy (Roggero *et al.* 1999), and Iran (Ghotbi *et al.* 2005).

Table 1 shows lists of ornamentals subject to infection with tospoviruses. As can be seen in **Table 1**, ornamentals are considered as hosts mainly of TSWV and INSV. Besides these two tospoviruses, other tospoviruses can also infect them, such as CSNV on *Chrysanthemum*, *Gerbera* and *Zinnia s*pecies (Mumford *et al.* 2003; Vozelj *et al.* 2003; Ravni-

kar et al. 2003); CCSV on Benincasa hispida, Gomphrena globosa and Zantedeschia spp. (Chen et al. 2005); CaCV on Hoya spp. (Persley et al. 2006); IYSV on Eustoma russelianum, E. grandifolium and Iris hollandica (Cortes et al. 1998; Kritzman et al. 2000); TCSV and GRSV on Impatiens spp. (Wijkamp et al. 1995); TYRV on Alstroemelia, Impatiens, Gazania spp. and Tropaeolum majus (Mehraban et al. 2005).

Tospoviruses have occurred sporadically in Iran in the past, however since 2000, outbreaks of tospoviruses have been recorded every year. Three years surveys were carried out on ornamentals between 2000 and 2002. TSWV, INSV and *Tomato Varamin virus* (ToVV), a new tospovirus from Iran were frequently detected in samples of many ornamentals and often in mixed infections, whereas IYSV only in a few samples (Ghotbi *et al.* 2005).

Complex infections, e.g TSWV+INSV on *Gerbera* spp. (Vicchi and Bellardi 1996) and on *Pittosporum tobira* (Ramasso *et al.* 1994) had been already observed earlier.

Thrips transmission of TSWV was observed to *Symphoricarpos albos* and *Weigelia florida*, while mechanical transmission to *Buddlea davidii*, *Gleditschia triacanthos*, *Hydrangea* spp., *Ligustrum vulgare*, *Lonicera japonica*, *Ulmus pumila* var. *arborea* (Mertelik *et al.* 1996).

In Australia, flowering ornamentals were sampled from 6 sites and samples from 2698 plants were tested. Out of them 296 samples were infected with TSWV. The frequency of infection was 81, 65, 57, 32, 30 and 28% in Chinese aster, calendula, *Statice, Alstroemeria, Chrysanthemum* and dahlia species, respectively. *Cosmos, Delphinium, Gladiolus, Antirrhinum and Zinnia* species were less infected. INSV was not detected in the samples (Latham and Jones 1997).

Tospovirus members

For many years, TSWV was considered to be unique amongst known plant viruses and remained as the sole member of the *Tomato spotted wilt virus* group (Matthews 1982). However, as interest in TSWV has increased in recent years, it has become clear that this position was wrong. Firstly TSWV was reclassified as the type member of the tospovirus genus, created to contain the plant-infecting members of the family Bunyaviridae (Francki *et al.* 1991). Secondly, a number of other tospoviruses, distict from TSWV, have been added to the tospovirus genus, including Impatiens necrotic spot virus (INSV), *Tomato chlorotic spot virus* (TCSV) and *Groundnut ringspot virus* (GRSV) (de Ávila *et al.* 1993).

In the late eighties and early nineties new members with a narrower host range as compared to TSWV and INSV were added to the genus based on their serological and molecular characterization, and isolated from different hosts (de Ávila *et al.* 1993). From these serological differences, a serogroup classification system was established (de Ávila *et al.* 1992). These serogroups were further characterised by analysis of nucleotide sequences of the N gene from members of each serogrup (de Ávila *et al.* 1993). It was proposed that a virus should be designated as a tospovirus initially on the basis of virion morphology, genome organization and thrips transmission. Tospovirus species are distinguished on the basis of N protein serology, N protein sequences and vector specifity (Goldbach and Kuo 1996).

There are currently 18 ICTV-recognised or proposed as tospovirus species (Persley *et al.* 2006).

Distinction between viruses within a serogroup should then be made on the basis of N protein sequence homology. Only if there is sufficient difference between the sequence of the N protein of the new virus and that of previouslydescribed viruses should a virus be regarded as distinct (less than 90% homology has been suggested). On the basis of this proposed classification, the list of distinct and possible tospoviruses is indicated in **Table 2**.

As indicated above, INSV is serologically distinct from TSWV (Law and Moyer 1990; de Ávila *et al.* 1992), with little or no serological cross-reactivity between the N pro-

teins of the two viruses, when using either polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies. This lack of similarity can be explained by comparing N protein gene nucleotide sequences from TSWV and INSV (Law et al. 1991; de Haan et al. 1992), which only possess a 62% identity of the N ORF, corresponding to an amino acid sequence homology of 55%. It should be noted, however, that conserved domains do exist, a fact borne out with the production of monoclonal antibodies that react to the N proteins of both INSV and TSWV (Hall and Moyer 1992). In contrast to the N protein, the envelope glycoprotein of the two viruses shows a greater level of epitope conservation with glycoprotein-specific antisera being cross-reactive to both viruses (Law and Moyer 1990). Sequence comparisons between the M RNA segments of TSWV and INSV support the serological evidence that the glycoproteins show a relatively high degree of conservation (Kormelink et al. 1992; Law et al. 1992).

Relative to INSV, TCSV and GRSV are less well characterised. Although again serologically distinct from TSWV, the level of variation is much less, with a greater degree of cross-reactivity between the three viruses (de Ávila *et al.* 1990). This greater level of serological relatedness can be attributed to a higher degree of similarity at the amino acid level, with 76% and 78% homology between the N proteins of TCSV and TSWV and GRSV and TSWV, respectively. Between the N proteins of TCSV and GRSV, the amino acid homology is 81%.

The nucleotide sequence of the N gene of WSMoV has been determined, revealing a nucleic acid sequence homology of around only 55% compared with all the other tospovirus members and even less (40-46%) at the amino acid level (Yeh and Chang 1995).

Comparisons of WSMoV and GBNV isolates have indicated that these two viruses are closely related. They share a high level of serological cross-reaction and also both possess an N protein of 30-32 kD, compared to 29 kD for TSWV and INSV (Adam *et al.* 1993). The N protein of GBNV has 86% identity with that of WSMoV, but approximately 30% homology with that of TSWV.

A recently characterized new tospovirus *Capsicum chlorosis virus* (CaCV) is most closely related to WSMoV, a serogroup four (IV) tospovirus (Persley *et al.* 2006).

To clarify the serological relationship between CCSV and WSMoV, rabbit polyconal antibody (PAb) to CCSV and mouse monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) to WSMoV NP or CCSV NP were produced, using purified nucleocapsid protein (NP) as immunogens. The sequence identities of CCSV and other viruses proved that CCSV is a new species in the genus tospovirus and belongs to the WSMoV serogroup (Lin *et al.* 2005).

The S RNA of a new tospovirus, TYRV was cloned recently and its 3,061 nucleotide long sequence showed features characteristic of tospoviral S RNA segments. The N protein with a predicted Mr of 30 kDa showed closest relationship to the N protein of IYSV (74% sequence identity) (Mehraban *et al.* 2005).

Table 3 shows the amino acid sequence identities (%)of 15 tospovirus N proteins.

ISOLATION AND IDENTIFICATION

Detection and identification of tospoviruses can be achieved in a number of ways including observation of disease symptoms and host reactions as a preliminary indication, followed by electron microscopy (EM), serological and nucleic acid-based assays.

Nicotiana benthamiana is a very susceptible diagnostic host for most tospoviruses, but it is a poor propagation host, as it survives for only a short time following symptoms expression.

Symptomatology has been frequently used for diagnosis and detection. Tospoviruses are sap-transmissible and can be mechanically inoculated into indicator plants (Best 1968). A large number of indicators have been recorded (Francki and Hatta 1981), one of the most favoured is garden petunia

Serogroup	virus members. Virus	Distribution	Host range	References	Vectors
I (monotypic)	<i>Tomato spotted wilt virus</i> (TSWV), type member	Worldwide	Over 1000 hosts, almost half of the susceptible species mainly Solanaceae and Asteraceae plants	Goldbach and Peters 1994; Murphy <i>et al.</i> 1995; Parella <i>et al.</i> 2003; Peters 2003	<i>F. occidentalis</i> (Gardner <i>et al.</i> 1935); <i>F. schultzei</i> (Samuel <i>et al.</i> 1930, Wijkamp <i>et al.</i> 1995); <i>F.</i> <i>fusca</i> (Sakimura 1963); <i>F. intosa</i> (Wijkamp <i>et al.</i> 1995); <i>F.</i> <i>bispinosa</i> (Sherwood <i>et al.</i> 2000);
					<i>T. tabaci</i> (Pittman 1927); <i>T. setosus</i> (Fujisawa <i>et al.</i> 1988); <i>T. palmi</i> (Fujisawa <i>et al.</i> 1988); <i>Tenothrips frici</i> (Ghotbi and Baniameri 2006); (Francki and Grivell 1970; De Haan <i>et al.</i> 1989; Dewey <i>et al.</i> 1993; Goldbach and Peters 1994)
Π	Tomato chlorotic spot virus (TCSV)	Brazil	Tomato, pepper	De Ávila <i>et al</i> . 1990; 1993	<i>F. occidentalis, F. schultzei, F. intosa</i> (Goldbach and Peters 1994; Wijkamp <i>et al.</i> 1995)
П	Groundnut (peanut) ringspot virus (GRSV)	Brazil, Argentine, South-Africa, Asia	Groundnut, tomato	De Ávila <i>et al.</i> 1990; 1993; Dewey <i>et al.</i> 1993	<i>F. occidentalis, F. schultzei</i> (Goldbach and Peters 1994; Wijkamp <i>et al.</i> 1995)
III Monospecies serotype	Impatiens necrotic spot virus (INSV)	USA, Europe, Asia	Mainly under glasshouse, on ornamentals (e.g. Begonia, Dahlia, Gloxinia, Sinningia, Impatiens spp.)	Law and Moyer 1990; de Ávila <i>et al.</i> 1992; Marchoux <i>et al.</i> 1991; Vaira <i>et al.</i> 1993	<i>F. occidentalis</i> (De Angelis <i>et al.</i> 1993; Wijkamp and Peters 1993); <i>F. fusca</i> (Best and Katekar 1964; Goldbach and Kuo 1996); <i>T. tabaci</i> (Ghotbi and Baniameri (2006)
IV	<i>Watermelon silver</i> <i>mottle virus</i> (WSMoV) type member	Taiwan, Thailand, Japan	Cucurbits, tomato, Hoya spp.	Iwaki <i>et al.</i> 1984; Yeh and Chang 1995; Heinze <i>et al.</i> 1995	<i>T. palmi</i> (Yeh <i>et al.</i> 1992; Hall <i>et al.</i> 1993; Chen <i>et al.</i> 2006)
IV	Peanut (groundnut) bud necrosis virus (GBNV)	India, South- East-Asia, South America, Africa	Groundnut, other grain legumes, tomato, pepper	Reddy et al. 1992 Adam et al. 1993; Satyanarayana et al. 1996	<i>T. palmi</i> (Palmer <i>et al.</i> 1991); <i>Scirtothrips dorsalis</i> , <i>F. schultzei</i> (Vijayalakshmi 1994)
IV	Capsicum chorosis virus (CaCV)	Australia, Thailand, Taiwan	Pepper, tomato, peanut, Hoya spp. Sinningia spp.	Lee <i>et al.</i> 2002; Persley <i>et al.</i> 2006	<i>T. palmi, F. schultzei,</i> <i>Ceratothripoides claratris</i> (McMichael <i>et al.</i> 2002; Premachandra <i>et al.</i> 2005)
IV	Melon spotted wilt virus (MSWV)	Japan	melon	Heinze <i>et al.</i> 1995; Kato 1995	T. palmi
IV IV	Calla lily chlorotic spot virus (CCSV) Watermelon bud	Taiwan India	Zantedeschia spp., some cucurbits watermelon	Hsu <i>et al.</i> 2002; Chen <i>et al.</i> 2005; Lin <i>et al.</i> 2005 Singh and Krishnareddy	<i>T. palmi</i> (Chen <i>et al.</i> 2005; Lin <i>et al.</i> 2005) <i>T. palmi</i> (Jain <i>et al.</i> 1998)
1 *	necrosis virus (WBNV)			1996	•
V	<i>Iris yellow spot virus</i> (IYSV), type member	Brazil, Japan, Israel, The Netherlands, Slovenia, USA, Australia	Onion, chive, leek, Iris hollandica, Amaryllis, Hippeastrum, Eustoma russelianum Dendranthema grandiflora	Cortes <i>et al.</i> 1998; Gera <i>et al.</i> 1998a; Pozzer <i>et al.</i> 1999; Kritzman <i>et al.</i> 2000; Schwartz <i>et al.</i> 2002; Balukiewicz and Kryczynski 2005; Persley <i>et al.</i> 2006	<i>T. tabaci</i> (Nagata and Almeida 1999)
V	Tomato yellow (fruit) ring virus (TYRV)	Iran	Impatiens, Gazania spp., Tropaeolum majus, Alstoemeria spp. Nicotiana spp., tomato, Pisum, Vigna spp.	Mehraban <i>et al.</i> 2005	Not known
V	Tomato Varamin virus (ToVV)**	Iran		Ghotbi et al. 2005	Not known
Monospecies serotype	Peanut (groundnut) yellow spot virus (PYSV)	India, Thailand	peanut	De Haan <i>et al.</i> 1990; Reddy <i>et al.</i> 1990; Satyanarayana <i>et al.</i> 1998	Not known
Monospecies serotype	Melon yellow spot virus (MYSV)	Japan, Taiwan	melon	Kato et al. 2000	<i>T. palmi</i> (Kato <i>et al.</i> 2000)
Monospecies serotype	Physalis severe mottle virus (PSMV)*	Thailand	Physalis minima	Cortes et al. 2001	<i>T. palmi</i> (Kato <i>et al.</i> 2000)
Monospecies serotype	<i>Peanut (groundnut)</i> <i>chlorotic fan-spot virus</i> (PCFV)	Thaiwan	Peanut	Chen and Chiu 1995; Chu <i>et al</i> . 2001	Scirtothrips dorsalis (Chen and Chiu 1995)
Monospecies serotype	Zucchini lethal chlorosis virus (ZLCV)	Brazil	cucurbits	Resende et al. 1996	F. zucchini (Bezerra et al. 1999)
Monospecies serotype	Crysanthemum stem necrosis virus (CSNV)	Brazil, the Netherlands	<i>Chrysanthemum</i> spp., tomato, <i>Gerbera</i> spp.	Nagata <i>et al.</i> 1998; Ravnikar <i>et al.</i> 2003; Verhoeven <i>et al.</i> 1996	F. ocidentalis, F. schultzei (Bezerra et al. 1999)
	unidentified ed as an isolate of MYSV (Jan	Australia	Pterostylis spp.	Gibbs <i>et al</i> . 2000	Not known

* it is considered as an isolate of MYSV (Jan *et al.* 2003) ** it is presumed the same as TYRV

Table 3 Amino acid sequ	ence identities (%) of tos	poviral N proteins ((after Mehraban et al. 2005)
-------------------------	----------------------------	----------------------	-----------------------------	---

Viruses	TSW	TCSV	GRSV	INSV	CSNV	ZLC	PBNV	WS	WBNV	MYSV	PCFV	PYSV	CaCV	IYSV	TYRV
	Ň	SV	SV	V	AA A	CV	AA A	WSM0V	ŇŇ	SV	V	SV.	V	V	RV
TSWV	100	76	78	55	75	72	25	28	26	26	18	19	29	30	30
TCSV		100	81	52	72	71	27	27	26	27	19	20	28	29	31
GRSV			100	52	73	75	27	29	28	27	19	19	29	29	31
INSV				100	53	50	27	27	26	24	21	21	27	26	29
CSNV					100	80	26	28	24	29	20	20	28	31	29
ZLCV						100	26	26	26	26	19	19	27	29	29
PBNV							100	86	85	60	21	20	84	42	40
WSMoV								100	86	58	20	20	86	41	39
WBNV									100	58	19	20	82	42	39
MYSV										100	19	19	59	47	45
PCFV											100	59	20	18	17
PYSV												100	20	18	20
CaCV													100	43	40
IYSV														100	74
TYRV															100

which gives characteristic brown, necrotic local lesions 3 days after inoculation. Results obtained from sap-transmission tests are often unreliable. Tospoviruses are highly unstable *in vitro*, and even when using carefully composed inoculation buffers to aid retention of virus viability (Best 1968), sap preparations become rapidly uninfective. The implications of this are that the lack of symptoms on an indicator does not necessarily imply a lack of virus in the sample tested. Future complications are also observed due to variable symptom expression. This is often related to the environmental factors (especially light conditions) of plants before and after inoculation (Best 1968).

Verhoeven *et al.* (1996) suggested the use of *Datura stramonium* as a suitable indicator host to differentiate CSNV from other tospoviruses as only CSNV causes stem necrosis after mechanical inoculation. *Physalis floridana* can also be used for separation of CSNV from TSWV as only the latter evokes systemic symptoms.

Light microscopy of viral inclusion bodies is also useful for tospovirus diagnosis (Adkins *et al.* 2005). Cytopathological differences have been observed between TSWV and INSV. Both are able to form dense inclusions, consisting of NSs protein, within the cytoplasm of host cells. But in TSWV-infected cells the inclusions take the form of loose aggregates of fibres (Kormelink *et al.* 1991), while in INSV cells NSs is formed into highly ordered paracrystalline entities, so-called Z structures (Urban *et al.* 1991).

As the tospoviruses have a morphology that is unique amongst the plant viruses, their particles can be directly identified using electron microscopy (EM) (Black et al. 1963). Disadvantages of this method are that sample preparation is expensive and examination is time-consuming. At a low titre, often only individual particles can be seen. In isolation, tospovirus particles can resemble plant membranous debris, such has chloroplast or mitochondrial fragments, which often make reliable diagnosis impossible. EM of plant sap preparations of tospoviruses can be unreliable, as the membrane-bound particles are easily degraded unless fixed, and can be confused with other membranous structures. ISEM has been successfully applied, and can be enhanced by gold labelling (Kitajima et al. 1992). The use of immunoelectron microscopy (IEM) has proved successful, even for the detection of morphologically defective isolates (Kitajima et al. 1992). However IEM suffers from the limitations described for TEM and is only applicable for small numbers of samples.

The detection and diagnosis of tospoviruses is based on serologically based procedures, mainly on ELISA with high quality polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies (Gonsalves and Trujillo 1986). ELISA allows the detection of TSWV within individual thrips (Cho *et al.* 1988; Bandla *et al.* 1994). Now, many antisera are available to a wide range of tospoviruses. Polyclonal antisera have been prepared to purified whole virions or nucleocapsids, to in vitro expressed viral proteins and to synthesized peptides from the NSs protein. Monoclonal antibodies and recombinant single chain variable fragment antibodies have also been produced. With the availability of a range of good antisera to various tospoviruses, ELISA and other serologically-based assays, such as lateral flow devices or dip-sticks have become the standard diagnostic methods. Other serological techniques have also been developed, including dot-blot immunoassay (DBIA; Huguenot et al. 1990) and direct tissue blotting (Hsu and Lawson 1991), although neither appear to offer any significant advantages over ELISA. Tissue blot assays are also effective. Whitfield et al. (2003) used tissue blot immunoassay (TBIA) to detect TSWV in Ranunculus asiaticus tubers and other ornamentals.

A recent approach is for the detection of tospoviruses based upon molecular biology techniques. Nucleic acid hybridization techniques have been developed and evaluated for their use in the detection and diagnosis of tospoviruses. Both riboprobes (Huguenot et al. 1990) and cDNA probes (Ronco et al. 1989; Rice et al. 1990) have been used. The sensitivity of these tests are often not greater than that recorded for ELISA, but probes avoid the problems associated with serological tests (Mumford 1995). Tests based upon the use of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) have also been developed (Mumford et al. 1994). By using reverse transcription (RT-PCR) on plant total RNA extracts, it is possible to detect and distinguish between TSWV and INSV, by using different virus-specific primers (Mumford et al. 1994), and using universal primers, to detect all tospoviruses (Wood et al. 1995).

The first report of a RT-PCR for a tospovirus (TSWV) was by Mumford *et al.* (1994), who used primers specific for *L* gene sequences. Later, Dewey *et al.* (1996) and Mumford *et al.* (1996) described a tospovirus genus-specific primer pair UNIV S1 and UNIV S2, specific for the conserved sequences in the *N* gene and 3' untranslated region, respectively. These primers were used successfully to detect TSWV, TCSV, INSV and GRSV, the known tospoviruses at that time. McMichael *et al.* (2002) used primers specific to the S RNA serogroup IV tospoviruses (Jain *et al.* 1998), to characterize CaCV, a novel virus previously identified by ELISA.

Cortes *et al.* (2001) used a primer targeted to the conserved sequence at the 3' end of the S RNA together with a primer to the tracts of adenosine bases present in the highly homologous sequences of the intergenic region. Using this approach with MYSV, either the whole S RNA or the N and NSs genes separately, could be amplified. A one-step RT-PCR system for the simultaneous detection and identification of multiple tospoviruses in plants has been recently

Primer/primer pairs	Viruses	What they encode	Cycling conditions	References
L1, L2	TSWV	L RNA fragment	Denaturation 94°C 1 min	Mumford et al. 1994;
			Annealing 37°C 1 min	Balukiewicz et al. 2005
			Extension 72°C 1 min	
N3534c	WSMoV	S RNA	Denaturation 94°C 1 min	Lin et al. 2005
N3101	MYSV, IYSV, WSMoV	Conserved regions of N genes	Annealing 50°C 30 s	
Ter398s, 398S-NSs3', 398S-	CCSV	S RNA	Extension 72°C 1 min	
ter3', 398N354c, 398S-ter5'				
18TNS				
gL3637	Tospoviruses	Conserved region of the L genes	-	Chen et al. 2005
gL4435c				
WN2645K, WN3469cKS	WSMoV	N gene		~
J13	Physalis tospovirus isolate	S RNA	-	Cortes et al. 2001
UHP		N, NSs protein genes	D	D 1 1 0000
Actin1, actin 2	TSWV	mRNA sequence of actin gene	Denaturation 94°C 1 min	Boonham et al. 2002
Forward primers,			Annealing 54°C 1 min	
Reverse primers	T : 14		Extension 72°C 1 min	D (1100)
Primer1	Tospovirus isolates	3'end of S RNA	Denaturation 92°C 0 s	Dewey et al. 1996
Primer2		N gene ORF	Annealing 52°C 0 s Extension 72°C 15 s	
Primer 1	TSWV	Coding region of the NP gene	Denaturation 96°C 30 s	Jain <i>et al.</i> 1998
Primer2	15 W V	L RNA	Annealing 42°C 2 min	Jaiii et al. 1998
T filler2		LINA	Extension 72°C 1 min	
S6t7, S12-166, S12-155, S6t3,	PCSV	Intergenic and terminal regions	-	Chu et al. 2001
anchor primer, downsream	1057	intergente and terminal regions		Chu ci ul. 2001
primer				
Universal primer (TOS-R15)	Tospoviruses		-	Uga and Tsuda 2005
IYSV-837, 459	IYSV			- 8
TSWV-709	TSWV			
INSV-589	INSV			
WSMoV-524, 848	WSMoV			
MYSV-433, 511, 834	MYSV			
L1, L2	TSWV	Central region of L RNA	Denaturation 94°C 30 s	Mumford et al. 1996
S1 INSV, S2 INSV	INSV, TSWV	S RNA	Annealing 55°C 1 min	
S1 UNIV	TSWV, INSV, GRSV, TCSV	S RNA	Extension 72°C 1 min	
S1 TSWV, S2 TSWV	TSWV	N gene		
SN2 INSV	INSV	N gene		
TSW.1, TSW.2	TSWV		Denaturation 94°C 45 s	Dietzgen et al. 2005
			Annealing 45°C 45 s	
			Extension 72°C 1 min	

-, not known

described (Uga and Tsuda 2005). Chu *et al.* (2001) designed two pairs of genus-specific RT-PCR primers which allowed amplification of tospoviruses from five different serogroups. Real-time RT-PCR has also been developed and shown to be a sensitive and reliable method of detection of TSWV in a range of plant species and thrips vectors (Roberts *et al.* 2000; Boonham *et al.* 2002; Dietzgen *et al.* 2005) (**Table 4**).

To investigate tospoviruses, isolation of the encoded products of viruses is difficult because of their genomic complexity and particle instability. In the last decade, new techniques using plant viruses as vectors for in planta expression of proteins and efficient purification procedures of the expressed proteins from plants have been developed. The entire open reading frame (ORF) of N or NSs protein encoded by S RNA of WSMoV was inserted in between the P1 and -Pro genes of the Zucchini vellow mosaic virus (ZYMV) vector for expression in planta. Six histidine residues and an additional NIa protease cleavage site were introduced to facilitate the purification and the process of free-form proteins, respectively. Symptoms of mosaic and leaf distortion on zucchini squash were induced by the chimeric viruses ZWSMoV-N and TWSMoV-NSs carrying the N and NSs ORFs of WSMoV, respectively. The expressed N and NSs proteins were purified from infected tissues by the Ni²⁺-NTA affinity column. Results indicated that the constructed ZYMV vector can efficiently express tospoviral proteins in cucurbits. The same vector may have a potential application for expression of plant derived vaccines for mammalian infecting viruses of the same family such as the viruses in the genera Bunyavirus, Hantavirus, Nairovirus and Phlebovirus (Chen et al. 2006).

CONVENTIONAL MEANS FOR THEIR CONTROL AND ERADICATION

Effective antiviral chemical therapy is not available for almost all viral diseases, plant or animal, including tospovirus diseases.

The reasons for the difficulty in controlling tospoviruses include the wide host range of TSWV, the most widespread member of the genus, thus providing a very large number of alternative weed and crop hosts. Thrips vectors have the capacity to rapidly develop resistance to many insecticides. Control through resistant cultivars has been hampered by the lack or resistance to tospoviruses among many important crop hosts and the ineffectiveness or lack of durability of some sources when used (Boiteux and Nagata 1993; Cho *et al.* 1996).

To be effective, control measures should be based on epidemiological principles. There is a considerable body of information on the complex interactions between tospoviruses, their hosts and vectors, particularly for TSWV (Jones 2004).

We must rely on preventive methods. When considering plant virus diseases, two main options are available: the use of resistant plants and to limit transmission and spread. Useful sources of resistance for a variety of crops have now been identified, including tomato (Boiteux and Giordano 1993), pepper (Boiteux and de Ávila 1994), lettuce (Wang *et al.* 1992) and tobacco (Kennedy and Nielsen 1993).

While efforts are being made to produce resistant plants, the only practical means of controlling tospovirus induced diseases is to reduce their spread. This is mostly achieved by controlling thrips populations.

Managing F. occidentalis, a dominant species in glasshouses is difficult (Robb and Parella 1995; McDonough et al. 1999) because:

• Short feeding period (1-2 hrs) is required for transmission;

• F. occidentalis is very small and easy to overlook;

• Spend part of their life cycle in the soil;

• Prefer to feed on flower parts, where systemic insecticides do not reach;

• Like to hide in flowers, flower and leaf buds making them hard to spot and reach with pesticides;

• Live on a wide variety of host plants;

Feed on other insects;

• Reproduce rapidly in warm greenhouses. The development time from egg to adult is 7 to 13 days when temperatures range from 17 to 37°C (Robb 1989).

• Hide in plant materials and transported worldwide;

• Transmit tospoviruses to a range of plant species;

• They are resistant to a number of insecticides.

Physical exclusion is a very effective control method. In order to prevent *F. occidentalis* entering greenhouses Robb and Parella (1995) suggest the following:

• Install screens on all external openings, paying particular attention to areas where air is drawn into the glasshouse. The use of screens (mesh size <135 nm) prevent entry of thrips into glasshouse;

• Limit access to the greenhouse and install double doors at all entrances;

• Do not move *F. occidentalis* or virus-infested plants from propagation areas to production areas.

With this method the application of pesticide was reduced by 40% in poinsettia stock and New Guinea impatiens production areas (Hall 1995).

Cultural methods are the following according Robb and Parella (1995):

• Remove weeds and flowering plants growing near glasshouses because the plants can harbor *F. occidentalis* and tospoviruses;

• Avoid continuous cropping, and alternate crop plants with non-susceptible plants;

• Remove all plant debris.

If soil is present under greenhouse benches, the soil sterilization must be done periodically or the soil must be treated with a pesticide to eliminate the developmental stages of *F. occidentalis*. Some growers apply a layer of hydrated lime thick enough to cover the soil beneath the benches because hydrated lime reduces algae, weeds and insects in this critical area (Lindquist 1998). As an alternative to soil sterilization, greenhouse vents should be closed, and the house should be kept fallow for seven days between crops to accelerate the development of *F. occidentalis* pupae in the soil, and eliminate the emerging adults. Heating the greenhouse to temperatures in excess of 39° C for two days will kill adult thrips (Parella 1995).

The use of horticultural oils, insecticidal soaps and filmforming agents showed a significant reduction of TSWV transmission (Allen *et al.* 1993). UV reflective and plastic mulches acted to reduce thrips' access to the growing medium, where they pupate (Greenough *et al.* 1990).

Good sanitation controls tospoviruses

Three common sources of tospovirus outbreaks in the greenhouse are: Asymptomatic carry-over crops such as holiday cactus (*Schlumbergera* spp.); weeds growing in the greenhouse and infected stock plants, which serve as bridges for virus survival (Daughtrey 1997).

Monitoring (the use of indicator plants and coloured sticky cards) is essential, because early warning is critical to the contol of *F. occidentalis* and to the prevention of tospovirus infections. Indicator plants must be more attractive to the pest than the producing crops, the pest or pathogen must develop faster on the indicator plant, the indicator must show feeding damage (or virus symptoms) more readily,

and finally indicator plants should not contribute to the spread of the virus being monitored (Allen and Matteoni 1991; Powell and Lindquist 1997). Petunias (*P. hybrida*) are excellent early indicators for the presence of *F. occidentalis* feeding and transmission of tospoviruses because petunias are not systemically infected with either TSWV or INSV (Ullman 1998). In response to a tospovirus infection, petunia show a hypersensitive response – a rapid death of plant tissues that also kills the invading virus (Robb *et al.* 1998). Daughtrey *et al.* (1995) and Robb *et al.* (1998) suggest the following cultivars for tospovirus detection: 'Calypso', 'Super Blue Magic', 'Blue Carpet', 'Cascade Blue', 'Summer Madness', 'Burgundy Madness', 'Red Cloud', 'Super Magic Coral'.

Use of petunia indicator plant/directional trap system alerts the grower to the presence of infective thrips and helps locate their source.

Beside petunias, fava beans as indicator plants are also suggested for growers (Pundt 2001).

Biological control

Biological control may be effective if used as part of the integrated pest management (IPM) scheme, including other non-chemical methods, such as general glasshouse hygiene.

There are increasing demands for minimal pesticide use on both edible and ornamental plants.

Thus many growers of greenhouse crops use biological control methods for thrips within IPM (Bennison 2004). The use of spinosad (a new insecticide derived from the fermentation of *Saccharpolyspora spinosa*) and *Orius insidiosus* in combination to control *F. occidentalis* on greenhouse grown pot chrysanthemum seems to be promising (Ludwig and Oetting 2001). The main elements of biological control are:

1. Predatory mites. *Neoseilus (Amblyseilus) cucumeris* and *N. degenerans* by feeding on larval thrips gives a good control of *F. occidentalis* on a wide range of greenhouse ornamental crops including pot and bedding plants, cut flowers and nursery stock. UK growers of ornamentals using *A. cucumeris* against thrips have very few problems with TSWV and INSV. The mites are released every week if using the broadcast method, or every six weeks if using the 'controlled relase' sachet method. As *A. cucumeris* feeds only on young thrips larvae, it is important to start releases preventively, before thrips are seen. *Hypoaspis miles* and *H. aculeifer* are ground-dwelling predatory mites, which were originally marketed for control of sciarid flies (fungus gnats). These mites may supplement the control of thrips by *A. cucumeris* (Higgins 1992; Cook *et al.* 1995).

2. Predatory bugs. Although *Orius* spp. (*O. insidiosus*) have potential for use on ornamental crops, they are little used. The bugs need a pollen food source in addition to prey such as thrips, and they can be slow to establish (Higgins 1992; Cook *et al.* 1995).

3. Entomopathogen nematodes (Bennison 2004). Grower trials with foliar applications of *Steinernema feltiae* against *F. occidentalis* have led to successful commercial uptake of this product on certain ornamental crops including chrysanthmum and saintpaulia, which hosts are very susceptible to *F. occidentalis* damage and are crops on which *A. cucumeris* does not give a reliable control. Other nematodes, such as *Thripinema nicklewoodi* also seem promising.

4. Entomopathogenic fungi. *Verticillium lecanii* and *Beauveria bassiana* species and their strains are promising in this respect, attacking all *F. occidentalis* life stages and killing in 2 to 14 days.

4. "Push-pull" strategy. There is increasing interest in developing the "push-pull" strategy (Bennison 2004), where thrips are pushed from the cultivated plants using a repellent or antifeedant, and "pulled" to trap plants attractive to thrips. The trap plants could be then be replaced regularly, or could be used to target control agents such as entomopathogenic nematodes, thus making them more cost-effec-

tive than use on the whole crop. In a previous project, flowering pot chrysanthemums 'Swingtime' were sown to be very attractive to *F. occidentalis* adults when placed amongst a pot chrysanthemum crop in the vegetative stage. A semiochemical thrips lure based on (E)- β -farnesene (EBF) increased the attraction to the trap plants and a plant-derived antifeedant helped to "push" the thrips from the crop plants. Beside this, flowering verbenas e.g. cv. 'Sissinghurst Pink' have also been shown to be effective trap plants for *F. occidentalis* in bedding plant crops (Bennison 2004).

Chemical control

There are many chemicals available to eliminate F. occidentalis but overuse of pesticides can lead to resistance in the F. occidentalis populations. Classes of insecticides registered for use on F. occidentalis include organophosphates, carbamates, pyrethrinoids, insect growth regulators, chlorinated hydrocarbons, chloronicotinyls, endosulfan, chlorpyrifos, bendiocarb, spinosyns, macrocyclic lactone, microbials and horticultural oils (Parella 1995; Robb 1998). For controlling F. occidentalis only the organophosphates proved successful by keeping the thrips population at an acceptable low threshold (Helyer and Brobyn 1992). A number of serious problems are raised by this action. These compounds are highly toxic and environmentally undesirable. These agents act in a non-specific manner, and this also results in the killing of insect predators, which are often introduced in the glasshouses to act as biological agents of other pests. Finally, control of TSWV via reducing thrips numbers can only be effective if treatments are performed regularly, to prevent populations reestablishing themselves. Eggs and pupal stages are unaffected by pesticide sprays, so we must make sure that the spraying program lasts long enough to include emerging larvae and adults. Rotating the use of insecticides among different classes of pesticides remains the single best approach in dealing with insect resistance.

Recently developed chemicals such as the microbial insecticide Spinosad[®], a natural macroyclic lactone with a unique mode of action and law mammalian toxicity, offer greater promise as part of IPM strategies (Eger *et al.* 1998). Acibenzolar-methyl (Actigard[®]) induces systemic aquired resistance against a broad range of pathogens and has reduced TSVW incidence.

Alternative means of modifying thrips behaviour include UV reflective mulch (Geer and Dole 2003).

Suitable post-harvest management can reduce overwintering thrips populations, a proposed major source of initial virus inoculum for the following growing season, but to very lower levels due to the influx of viruliferous thrips from outside or other untreated areas.

A different approach to reducing thrips transmission, without directly reducing vector numbers, is to use thripsresistant cultivars in groundnut (Amin 1985) and tomato (Krishna *et al.* 1993), but not in ornamentals. Broadbent *et al.* (1990) suggested that for chrysanthemum, host resistance was epidemiologically more significant than vector resistance.

Besides thrips, the spread of tospovirus also occurs via the movement of infected plant material, such as cuttings, used in the vegetative propagation of many ornamental species. This type of spread is most effectively controlled by the use of certified virus-free material.

Flower and vegetable transplants are often produced together in the same greenhouse, providing an opportunity from transmission of tospoviruses from vegetatively propagated ornamentals to field grown vegetables.

Winter and summer annual and perennial weeds as virus reservoirs and hosts of thrips vectors may be as primary infection sources, therefore effective weed control methods are necessary not only to prevent a direct harmful effect of weeds on crops but also from a virus epidemiological point of view (Cho *et al.* 1986; Gáborjányi *et al.* 1995; Jenser *et*

al. 2005; Takács *et al.* 2006). *Stellaria media* and *Galinsoga parviflora* frequently occur in the glasshouses and they are also considered good hosts of *F. occidentalis* and tospo-viruses (Mertelik and Mokra 1998).

An adequate method of controlling tospovirus infection is to start production from *in vitro* obtained stock material. Growing chrysanthemums from meristem-tip culture proved to be a good method for eliminating TSWV (Balukiewicz and Kryczynski 2001).

TRANSGENIC MEANS FOR TOSPOVIRUSES CONTROL AND ERADICATIONS

Transgenic plants resistant to TSWV infections have been developed using pathogen-derived resistance approaches. Resistant cultivars are currently part of the control strategies for TSWV mainly in capsicum, peanut and tomato (Cho *et al.* 1996; Roggero *et al.* 2002; Culbreath *et al.* 2003). It is recognized that TSWV can adapt and overcome resistance genes relatively easily. Therefore there is an urgent need to identify new sources of resistance to TSWV and other tospoviruses with a view to broadening the genetic base through gene pyramiding and other strategies.

Genetic transformation of plants with the N or NSm gene has been achieved in several important hosts of TSWV (tomato, tobacco, peanut). These approaches should provide greater opportunity to develop durable resistance to tospoviruses, particularly in the many hosts where conventional resistance genes have not been found.

Initial studies reported the production of transgenic tobacco, expressing the TSWV N gene (Pang *et al.* 1992), and showing a significant level of resistance to TSWV infection. Transgenic plants expressed viral nucleocapsid protein which was assumed to mediate resistance. Subsequent studies showed that the resistance is in fact mediated by the expression of viral RNA and not viral protein (Kim *et al.* 1994).

In a recent study Xu *et al.* (2006) proved that transgenic plants expressing a single-chain Fv antibody to TSWV are resistant to TSWV infection. Functional antibodies against plant viruses could be produced in tobacco plants and these transgenic tobacco plants expressing these anti-virus antibodies were resistant to infection by the homologous virus. The level of virus resistance was correlated with the level of the transgene RNA transcript and scFv antibody production and inherited into the R_1 generation. This principle of antibody-mediated protection may be useful for protecting plants against plant viruses.

Breeding for virus resistance in floricultural crops has traditionally been hampered by the diversity of the species, the lack of identified sources of resistance genes, the overriding importance of horticultural traits and the rapid turnover of popular cultivars (Daub *et al.* 1997). Given these constraints genetic engineering seems to be the best potential for the development of resistance to tospoviruses in floricultural crops, particularly given the extensive studies on the effectiveness of genetic engineering for tospovirus resistance in tobacco and vegetable crops (Accotto *et al.* 2005).

Although techniques for genetically engineering floricultural crops have logged behind those for major food crops, significant efforts have already been made. Many of the major flower crops (rose, chrysanthemum, carnation, lily, tulip, gebera and geranium) have been successfully transformed, resulting in altered phenotypes (Hsu and Lawson 1991; Davies and Schwinn 1997; reviewed extensively in Teixeira da Silva 2006).

To date there are few reports of genetically engineered disease resistance in floricultural crops. N gene transformation and conferment of resistance has now been achieved in a number of commercially-important crops, including chrysanthemum (Urban *et al.* 1994; Gonsalves *et al.* 1995; Sherman *et al.* 1995), New Guinea impatiens (*Impatiens* spp.) and Osteospermum ecklonis (Vaira *et al.* 2000).

Sherman *et al.* (1998) employed chrysanthemum as a model system for exploring the feasibility of using genetic-

ally engineered resistance to TSWV in ornamentals. They developed an efficient *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation system that allowed for the recovery of transgenic plants from three cultivars of chrysanthemum. They transformed the highly TSWV susceptible chrysanthemum 'Polaris' with the TSWV nucleoapsid (N) protein gene. Resistant plants were identified following challenge by viruliferous thrips that vectored a highly virulent heterologous isolate of TSWV.

An alternative or complementary resistance strategy is through host resistance to thrips (Jericho and Wilson 2003).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND CHALLENGES

The enhancing of the international trade of propagative materials and final floricultural products favours for the rapid distribution of pests and pathogens – including tospoviruses and their vectors also. Therefore more severe plant protection control of the planting materials is necessary at the borders in order to avoid the introduction of new (exotic) pests and pathogens. International cooperations and projects regarding tospovirus-ornamentals relations are necessary and future international symposiums on virus diseases of ornamental plants are the best possibilities to exchange latest research results in this respect.

The use of chemicals on flower crops is not regulated as in food crops. The large amounts of chemicals pose a threat to the environment and wildlife, water contamination and the health for the workers. The most effective and environmentally safe method against viruses is the breeding for virus resistance. Genetical methods will allow for the introduction of novel characters, such as new colors, manipulated growth, and also to strengthen the plant's responses to biotic and abiotic stresses. Genetically engineered virus resistance in floricultural crops must be a new challenge in the future, with an alternative or complementary resistance strategy is through host resistance to thrips. Organicallygrown flowers are another solution to overcome the use of potentially dangerous chemicals (Jericho and Wilson 2003, Xia *et al.* 2006).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by courtesy of Hungarian National Research Found (OTKA No. T048323).

REFERENCES

- Accotto GP, Nervo G, Acciarri N, Tavella L, Vecchiati M, Schiavi M, Mason G, Vaira AM (2005) Field evaluation of tomato hybrids engineered with tomato spotted wilt virus sequences for virus resistance, agronomic performance, and pollen-mediated transgene flow. *Phytopathology* **95**, 800-807
- Adam G, Yeh SD, Reddy DV, Green SK (1993) Serological comparison of tospovirus isolates from Taiwan an India with impatiens necrotic spot virus and different tomato spotted wilt isolates. *Archives of Virology* 130, 237-250
- Adkins S (2003) Tomato spotted wilt virus. In: Pernezny K (Ed) Compendium of Pepper Diseases, APS Press, St. Paul, pp 39-40
- Adkins S, Zitter T, Momol T (2005) Tospoviruses (family Bunyaviridae, genus Tospovirus). Available online: http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/PP134
- Alexandre MA, Rives EB, Duarte ML, Okuyama MH (1996) Serological survey of tospovirus in *Chrysanthemum* sp. crops in Sao Paulo State, Brazil. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 21, 80-84
- Allen WR, Matteoni JA (1988) Cyclamen ring spot: Epidemics in Ontario greenhouses caused by tomato spotted wilt virus. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 10, 41-46
- Allen WR, Matteoni JA (1991) Petunia as indicator plant for use by growers to monitor for thrips carrying the tomato spotted wilt virus in greenhouses. *Plant Disease* 75, 78-82
- Allen WR, Matteoni JA, Broadbent AB (1991) Factors relating to epidemiology and symptomatology in florist's chrysanthemum infected with *Tomato* spotted wilt virus. In: Hsu HT, Lawson RH (Eds) Virus-Thrips-Plant Interactions of TSWV, National Technology Information, Springfield, pp 28-45
- **Allen WR, Tehrani B, Luft R** (1993) Effects of horticultural oil, insecticidal soap, and film-forming products on the Western flower thrips and the tomato spotted wilt virus. *Plant Disease* **77**, 915-918
- Amin PW (1985) Apparent resistance of groundnut cultivar Robut 33-1 to bud necrosis disease. *Plant Disease* **69**, 718-719

Antignus Y, Lapidot M, GC Anaim M, Cohen J, Lachman O, Pearlsman M,

Raccah B, Gera A (1997) Biological and molecular characterization of Tomato spotted wilt virus in Israel. *Phytoparasitica* 25, 319-330

- Balukiewicz A, Kryczynski S (2001) Attempts to eliminate *Tomato spotted wilt virus* from chrysanthemum plants by meristem-tip culture. *Phytopathologia Polonica* 21, 101-108
- Balukiewicz A, Kryczynski S (2005) Tospoviruses in chrysanthemum mother stock plants in Poland. *Phytopathologia Polonica* 37, 59-67
- Balukiewicz A, Kryczynski S, Golnik K (2005) Biological differentiation and molecular characterization of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* (TSWV) isolates from chrysanthemum plants. *Phytopathologia Polonica* 37, 4-57
- Bandla MD, Westcot DM, Chenault KD, Ullman DE, German TL, Sherwood JL (1994) Use of monoclonal antibody to the non-structural protein encoded by the small RNA of tomato spotted wilt tospovirus to identify viruliferous thrips. *Phytopathology* 84, 1477-1431
- Bandla MD, Westcot DM, Ullman DE, Sherwood JL (1995) A thrips midgut protein that binds to tomato spotted wilt virus glycoprotein. *International* Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops, Taichung, Taiwan, p 42
- Bennison J (2004) Integrated control of thrips in the UK. Available online: http: //www.canadiangreenhouseconference.com/attendees/2004/bennison.htm
- Best RJ, Katekar GF (1964) Lipid in a purified preparation of Tomato spotted wilt virus. *Nature* 203, 671-672
- Best RJ (1968) Tomato spotted wilt virus. Advances in Virus Research 13, 65-146
- Bezzera IC, Resende O, Pozzer L, Nagata T, Kormelink R, de Ávila AC (1999) Increase of tospoviral diversity in Brazil with the identification of two new tospovirus species, one from chrysanthemum and one from zucchini. *Phytopathology* 89, 823-830
- Black LM, Brakke MK, Vatter AE (1963) Purification and electron microscopy of tomato spotted wilt virus. Virology 20, 120-130
- Bo ED, Chiarrone G, Rolleri J, Ronco L (1999) Tospovirus en los cultivos ornamentals de La Plata. *Revista de la Faultad de Agronomia La Plata* **104**, 35-40
- Bo ED, Ronco L, Alippi AM, Fernandez R (1995) Tomato spotted wilt virus on chrysanthemum in Argentina. *Plant Disease* **79**, 538
- Boiteux LS, de Ávila AC (1994) Inheritance of a resistance specific to tomato spotted wilt tospovirus in *Capsicum chinense* PI-15236. *Euphytica* 75, 139-142
- Boiteux LS, Giordano L (1993) Genetic basis of resistance against two tospovirus species in tomato (*Lycopersion esculentum*). *Euphytica* 71, 151-154
- Boiteux LS, Nagata T (1993) Susceptibility of Capsicum chinense PI 159236 to tomato spotted wilt virus. Plant Disease 77, 210
- Boonham N, Smith P, Walsh K, Tame J, Morris J (2002) The detection of Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) in individual thrips sing real time florescent RT-PCR (Taqman). Journal of Virological Methods 101, 37-48
- **Boulay M** (1991) Bunyaviridae: genome organization and replication strategies. *Advances in Virus Research* **40**, 235-275
- Brittlebank CC (1919) Tomato diseases. Journal of Agriculture, Victoria 27, 231-235
- Broadbent AB, Matteoni JA, Allen WR (1990) Feeding preferences of the Western flower thrips, *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (*Thysanoptera: Thripidae*) and incidence of tomato spotted wilt virus among cultivars of florist's chrysanthemum. *The Canadian Entomologist* 122, 1111-1117
- Chamberlain, JR, Todd JW, Beshear RJ, Culbreath AK, Demski JW (1992) Overwintering hosts and wingform of thrips. *Frankliniella* spp. in Georgia (Thysanoptera: Thripidae): Implications for management of spotted wilt disease. *Environmental Entomology* 21, 121-128
- Chatzivassiliou EK, Livieratos I, Jenser G, Katis NI (2000) Ornamental plants and thrips populations associated with tomato spotted wilt virus in Greece. *Phytoparasitica* 28, 1-8
- Chen CC, Chiu RJ (1995) A tospovirus causing chlorotic fan-spot on peanut in Taiwan. International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops, Taichung, p 18
- Chen CC, Hen CT, Li Y, Yeh SD, Hsu HT (2005) A chlorotic spot disease on Calla lilies (Zantedeschia spp.) is caused by a tospovirus serologically but distantly related to Watermelon silver mottle virus. Plant Disease 89, 440-445
- Chen, T, Huang C, Lin F, Lin C, Lin Y, Yeh S (2006) Expression of S RNAencoded proteins of thrips-borne Watermelon silver mottle tospovirus in squash by Zucchini yellow mosaic potyvirus vector. Acta Horticulturae 722, 313-320
- Cho JJ, Custer DM, Brommonschenkel SH, Tanksley SD (1996) Conventional breeding: host-plant resistance and the use of molecular markers to develop resistance to tomato spotted wilt virus in vegetables. *Acta Horticulturae* 73, 367-378
- Cho JJ, Mau RF, German TL, Hartmann RW, Yudin LS, Gonsalves D, Provvidenti R (1989) A multidisciplinary approach to management of Tomato spotted wilt virus in Hawaii. Plant Disease 73, 375-383
- Cho JJ, Mau RF, Gonsalves D, Mitchell WC (1986) Reservoir weed hosts of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Plant Disease* 70, 1014-1017
- Cho JJ, Mau RF, Mitchell WC, Gonsalves D, Yudin LS (1987) Host list of plants susceptible to tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV). *Research Extension Series 078*. University of Hawaii, Honolulu, 10 pp
- Cho JJ, Mau RF, Ullman DE, Custer DM (1988) Detection of Tomato spotted

wilt virus in individual thrips by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Phytopathology 78, 1348-1352

- Cho JJ, Mau RF, Ullman DE, Custer DM (1991) Detection of *Tomato spotted* wilt virus (TSWV) within thrips. In: Hsu HT, Lawson RH (Eds) Virus-Plant-*Thrips Interaction of TSWV*, Lawson, Springfield, pp 144-152
- Chu FH, Chao CH, Peng YC, Lin, SS, Chen CC, Yeh SD (2001) Serological and molecular characterization of *Peanut clorotic fan-spot virus*, a new species of the genus tospovirus. *Phytopathology* 91, 856-863
- Cohen J, Kritzman A, Ben-David A, Franck A, Alexandrov Z, Gera A (1999) Identification of tomato spotted wilt tospovirus in *Pittosporium*. *Dapey Medaa* 5, 63-64
- Cook DF, Houlding BJ, Steiner EC, Hardie D (1995) The native anthocorid bug Orius armatus (Heteroptera: Anthocoridae) as a field predator of Frankliniella occidentalis (Thysanoptera:Thripidae) in Western Australia. International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops, Taichung, p 19
- Cortes I, Livieratos IC, Derks A, Peters D, Kormelink R (1998) Molecular and serological characterization of *Iris yellow spot virus*, a new and distinct tospovirus species. *Phytopathology* 88, 1276-1282
- Cortes I, Saaijer J, Wongjkaew KS, Pereira AM, Goldbach R, Peters D, Kormelink R (2001) Identification and characterization of a novel tospovirus species using a new RT-PCR approach. Archives of Virology 146, 265-278
- Crowley NC (1957) Studies on the seed transmission of plant virus diseases. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences 10, 449-464
- Culbreath AK, Todd JW, Brown SL (2003) Epidemiology and management of tomato spotted wilt in peanut. Annual Review of Phytopathology 41, 53-75
- Daub ME Jones NK, Myer JW (1997) Biotechnological approaches for virus resistance in floral crops. In: Geneve RL, Preece JE, Merkle SA (Eds) *Biotechnology of Ornamental Plants*, CAB International Wallingford, UK, pp 335-351
- Daughtrey ML (1996) Detection and identification of tospoviruses in greenhouses. Acta Horticulturae 431, 90-98
- Daughtrey ML (1997) Real-world disease management for fungi and viruses: some serious current problems caused by Cercospora, Alternaria, Phytophthora and INSV. 13th Conference on Insect and Disease Management on Ornamentals, Orlando, Florida, pp 43-52
- Daughtrey ML, Casey C (1998) Highlights from SAF's pest conference. Grower Talks 61, 44-46
- Daughtrey ML, Wick RL, Peterson JL (1995) Compendium of Potted Flowering Plant Diseases, APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, 90 pp
- Daughtrey ML, Jones RK, Moyer JW, Dau ME, Baker JR (1997) Tospoviruses strike the greenhouse industry: INSV has become a major pathogen on flower crops. *Plant Disease* 81, 1220-1230
- Davies KM, Schwinn KE (1997) Flower colour. In: Geneve RL, Preece JE, Merkle SA (Eds) *Biotechnology of Ornamental Plants*, CAB International Wallingford, UK, pp 259-294
- de Angelis JD, Sether DM, Rossignol PA (1993) Survival, development and reproduction in western flower thrips (Thysanoptera: Thripididae) exposed to Impatients necrotic spot virus. Environmental Entomology 22, 1308
- de Ávila AC, de Haan P, Kitajima EW, Kormelink R, Resende R, Goldbach RW, Peters D (1992) Characterization of a distinct isolate of tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) from *Impatiens* spp. in the Netherlands. *Phytopathology* 134, 133-151
- de Ávila AC, de Haan P, Smeets ML, Resende R, Komelink R, Kitajima EW, Goldbach R, Peters D (1993) Distinct levels of relationships between tospovirus isolates. *Archives of Virology* **128**, 211-227
- de Ávila AC, Huguenot C, Resende R, Kitajima EW, Goldbach RW, Peters D (1990) Serological differentiation of 20 isolates of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Journal of General Virology* **71**, 2801-2807
- de Haan P, Wagemakers L, Peters D, Goldbach RW (1990) The S RNA segment of tomato spotted wilt virus has an ambisense character. *Journal of General Virology* 71, 1001-1007
- de Klejn E, Boers GJ, Heybroek AM (1992) International competitiveness in the propagating material sector. Rabobank Nederland International Agribusiness Research, Utrecht
- de Haan P, de Ávila AC, Kormelink R, Westerbrook A, Gielen JJ, Peters D, Goldbach R (1992) The nucleotide sequence of the S RNA of impatiens necrotic spot virus, a novel tospovirus. *FEBS Letters* **306**, 27-32
- de Haan P, Kormelink R, Resende R Poelwijk F Peters D, Goldbach RW (1991) *Tomato spotted wilt virus* L RNA encodes a putative RNA polymerase. *Journal of General Virology* **71**, 2207-2216
- de Haan P, Wagemakers L, Peters D, Goldbach W (1989) Molecular cloning and terminal sequence determination of the S and M RNAs of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Journal of General Virology* **70**, 3469-3473
- Dewey R, Semorile L, Gracia O, Grau O (1993) TSWV N protein gene sequence comparison among an Argentine isolate and other tospviruses. 9th International Congress of Virology, Glasgow, p 357
- **Dewey RA, Semorile LC, Grau O** (1996) Detection of tospovirus species by RT-PCR of the N gene and restriction enzyme digestions of the products. *Journal of Virological Methods* **56**, 19-26
- Dietzgen G, Twin J, Talty J, Selladurai S, Carrol ML, Coutts BA (2005) Genetic variability of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* in Australia and validation of

real time RT-PCR for its detection in single and bulked leaf sample. Annals of Applied Biology 146, 517-530

- Duarte LM, Rivas EB, Alexandre MA, de Ávila AC, Nagata T, Chagas CM (1995) *Chrysanhemum stem necrosis* caused by a possible novel tospovirus. *Phytopathology* **143**, 569-571
- Eger JE, Stavisky J, Funderburk JE (1998) Comparative toxicity of spinosad to Frankliniella spp. (Thysanoptera: Thripidae), with notes on a bioassay technique. The Florida Entomologists 81, 547-551
- Elliott RM (1989) Nucleotide sequence analysis of the large (L) genomic RNA segment of Bunyamwera virus, the prototype of the family Bunyaviridae. *Virology* **173**, 426-436
- Elliott RM (1990) Molecular biology of the Bunyaviridae. Journal of General Virology 71, 501-522
- Elliott RM, Dunn E, Simons JF, Pettersson RF (1992) Nucleotide sequence and coding strategy of the Uukuniemi virus L RNA segment. *Journal of General Virology* 73, 1745-1752
- Emery VC, Bishop DH (1987) Characterization of Punta Toro S mRNA species and identification of an inverted complementary repeat sequence in the intergenic region of *Punta oro phlebovirus* ambiense S RNA hat is involved in mRNA transcription termination. *Virology* 156, 1-11
- Filho A, Stavisky J, Reitz SR, Deom CM, Sherwood JL (2005) Midgut infection by tomato spotted wilt virus and vector incompetence of *Frankliniella tritici. Journal of Applied Entomology* **129**, 548-550
- Francki RI, Fauquet CM, Knudson DL, Brown F (1991) Classification and nomenclature of viruses. Fifth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Archives of Virology Suppl. 2, 1-450
- Francki RI, Grivell CJ (1970) An electron microscope study of the distribution of tomato spotted wilt virus in systemically infected *Datura stramonium* leaves. *Virology* 42, 969-978
- Francki RI, Hatta T (1981) Tomato spotted wilt virus. In: Kurstak E (Ed) Handbook of Plant Virus Infections. Comparative Diagnosis, Elsevier, New York, pp 491-512
- Fujisawa I, Tanaka K, Ishii M (1988) Tomato spotted wilt virus transmission by three species of thrips, *Thrips setosus*, *Thrips tabaci* and *Thrips palmi*. Annals of the Phytopathological Society of Japan 54, 392
- Gáborjányi R, Jenser G, Vasdinyei R (1994) Characterization and natural spread of tomato spotted wilt virus isolated in Hungarian tobacco plantations. *Horticultural Science* 26, 91-94
- Gáborjányi R, Vasdinyei R, Almási A, Csilléry G, Ekés M (1995) Identification of tomato spotted wilt virus pathotype on pepper and tomato. *Növényvédelem* 31, 533-540
- Gardner MW, Tompkins CM, Whipple OC (1935) Spotted wilt of truck crops and ornamental plants. *Phytopathology* 25, 17
- Geer L, Dole JM (2003) Aluminium foil, aluminium-painted, plastic and degradable mulches increase yields and decrease insect-vectored viral diseases of vegetables. *HortTechnology* 13, 276-284
- Gera A, Cohen J, Salomon R, Raccah B (1998a) Iris yellow spot tospovirus detected in onion (*Allium cepa*) in Israel. *Plant Disease* 82, 127
- Gera KA, Cohen KJ, Beckelman H, Anav D, Hadr E, Levy E, Koperman A (1998b) Identification of tomato spotted wilt tospovirus in Anemone. *Dapey Medaa* 12, 69-72
- German TL, Adkins S, Richmond K (1995) Enzyme activities associated with virions of tomato spotted wilt virus. *International Symposium on Tospo-viruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, p 21
- Gera A, Kritzman A, Cohen J, Katzir P, Beckelman H, Siti A (1999) Identification of tomato spoted wilt virus in Ranunculus. *Dapey Medaa* **8**, 56-57
- German TL, Ullman DE, Moyer JW (1992) Tospoviruses: diagnosis, molecular biology, phylogeny and vector relationship. Annual Review of Phytopathology 30, 315-348
- **Ghotbi T, Baniameri V** (2006) Identification and determination of transmission ability of thrips species as vectors of two tospovirus, *Tomato spotted wilt virus* (TSWV) and *Impatiens necrotic spot virus* (INSV) on ornamental plants in Iran. *Bulletin OILB/SROP* **29**, 297
- Ghotbi T, Shahrareen N, Winter S (2005) Occurrence of tospoviruses in ornamental and weed species in Markai and Teheran Provinces in Iran. *Plant Disease* 89, 425-429
- Gibbs A, Mackenzie A, Blanchfield A, Cross P, Wilson C (2000) Viruses of orchids in Australia, their identification, biology and control. *Australian Orchid Review* 65, 10-21
- Goldbach R, Kuo G (1996) Introduction. Acta Horticulturae 431, 21-26
- Goldbach RW, Peters D (1994) Possible causes of the emergence of tospovirus diseases. *Seminars in Virology* **5**, 113-120
- **Goldbach, RW, Kormelink R, van Pelwijk F, Wijkamp I, Prins M, Peters D** (1993) Expression of the genome of tomato spotted wilt virus, a bunyavirus invading the plant kingdom. 9th International Congress of Virology, Glasgow, p 7
- **Gonsalves C, Xue B, Pang S, Provvidenti R, Slightom J, Gonsalves D** (1995) Breeding transgenic tomatoes for resistance to tomato spotted wilt and cucumber mosaic viruses. *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips* of Floral and Ornamental Crops, Taichung, Taiwan, p 22
- Gonsalves D, Trujillo E (1986) Tomato spotted wilt virus in papaya and detection of the virus by ELISA. *Plant Disease* **70**, 501-506
- Greber RS, Klose MJ, Milne JR, Teakle DS (1991) Transmission of Prunus

necrotic ringspot virus using plum pollen and thrips. Annals of Applied Biology 118, 59-593

- Greenough DR, Black LL, Bond WP (1990) Aluminium-surfaced mulch an approach to the control of tomato spotted wilt virus in solanaceous crops. *Plant Disease* 74, 805-808
- Hack MD, van de Twaan AG, Heyboek AM (1992) International competitiveness in the arboricultural sector, Rabobank Nederland International Agribusiness Research, Utrecht
- Hall J (1995) Putting pest management to work. 11th Conference on Insect and Disease Management on Ornamentals, Fort Meyers, Alexandria VA, pp 59-61
- Hall JM, Mohan K, Knott EA, Moyer JW (1993) Tospoviruses associated with scape blight of onion (*Allium cepa*) seed crops in Idaho. *Plant Disease* 77, 952
- Hall JM, Moyer JW (1992) Monospecfic and crossreactive monoclonal antibodies to tospoviruses. *Phytopathology* 82, 1086
- Hardy, VG, Teakle DS (1992) Transmission of sowbane mosaic virus by *Thrips tabaci* in the presence and absence of virus-carying pollen. *Annals of Applied Biology* 121, 315-320
- Hausbeck MK, Welliver RA, Derr MA, Gildow FE (1992) Tomato spotted wilt virus survey among greenhouse ornamentals in Pennsylvania. *Plant Disease* 76, 795-800
- Heinze C, Mais E, Adam G, Casper R (1995) The complete nucleotide sequence of the S RNA of a new tospovirus species, representing serogroup IV. *Phytopathology* 85, 683-690
- Helyer NL, Brobyn PJ (1992) Chemical control of western flower thrips (Frankliniella occidentalis Pergande). Annals of Applied Biology 121, 219-231
- Higgins CJ (1992) Western flower thrips (Thysanoptera:Thripidae) in glasshouses: Population dynamics, distribution on plants and associations with predators. *Journal of Economic Entomology* 85, 1891-1903
- Holcomb DE, Valverde RA (2000) First report of *Oidium* sp. powdery mildew and *Tomato spotted wilt virus* on *Melampodium divaricatum*. *Plant Disease* 84, 1152
- Horváth J, Baracsi É, Takács A, Kazinczi G, Gáborjányi R, Krajczinger R (2006) Virus infection of ornamental plants in Hungary. Cereal Research Communication 34, 485-488
- Hsu H, Lawson RH (1991) Detection of tomato spotted wilt virus by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay, dot-blot immunoassay and direct tissue blotting. In: Hsu H, Lawson R (Eds) Virus-Plant Thrips Interactions of Tomato Spotted Wilt Virus, US Dep. Agric. Res. Serv. ARS-87, pp 120-126
- Hsu H, Chen C, Yeh S (2002) Identification of a tospovirus infecting calla lily Zantedeschia spp. 12th International Congress of Virology, p 505
- Hsu HT, Hibino H, Murai T, Omura T (1991) Establishing primary cell cultures from thrips vectors of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Phytopahology* 81, 1192
- Huguenot C, van den Dobbelsteen G, de Haan P, Wagemakers CA, Drost GA, Osterhaus AD, Peters D (1990) Detection of tomato spotted wilt virus using monoclonal antibodies and riboprobes. *Archives of Virology* 110, 47-62
- Hunter WB, Hsu HT (1995) Inoculation of thrips cell monolayers (Thysanoptera: Thripidae: *Frankliniella ocidentalis*) with tospoviruses (Bunyaviridae: Tospovirus). *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, Taiwan, p 26
- Hunter WB, Ullman DE (1992) Anatomy and ultrastructure of the piercingsucking mouthparts and paraglossal sensilla of *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Pergande) (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). *International Journal of Insect Morphology and Embryology* 21, 17-35
- Ie TS (1982) A sap-transmissible, defective form of tomato spotted wilt virus. Journal of General Virology 59, 387-391
- Iwaki M, Honda Y, Hanada K, Tochihara H, Yonaha T, Hokama K, Yokoyama T (1984) Silver mottle disease of watermelon caused by tomato spotted wilt virus. *Plant Disease* 68, 1006-1008
- Jain RK, Pappu HR, Pappu SS, Reddy M, Vani A (1998) Watermelon bud necrosis tospovirus is a distinct virus species belonging to serogroup IV. *Archives of Virology* 143, 1637-1644
- Jan FJ, Chen TC, Yeh SD (2003) Occurrence, importance, taxonomy and control of thrips-borne tospoviruses. In: Huanh HC, Acharya SN (Eds) Advances in Plant Disease Management, Research Signpost, Kerala, India, pp 391-411
- Jenser G, Gáborjányi R, Fekete T, Szénási Á, Bujdos L, Almási A (2005) Tomato spotted wilt virus epidemics and the possibilities of the prevention in Hungarian tobacco fields. Növényvédelem 41, 505-509
- Jericho C, Wilson C (2003) TSWV in Australian potato crops-what is driving these epidemics? National Strategy for the management of western flower thrips and *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. Newsletter **30**, 7-9
- Jin H, Elliott RM (1993) Characterisation of Bunyamwera virus S RNA that is transcribed and replicated by the L protein expressed from recombinant vaccinia virus. *Journal of Virology* **67**, 1396-1404.
- Jones RA (2004) Using epidemiological information to develop effective integrated virus disease management strategies. *Virus Research* 100, 5-30
- Kato K (1995) Some properties of melon spotted wilt virus isolated from netted melon (*Cucumis melo*) in Japan. *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, Taiwan, p 28

Kato KH, Hanada K, Kameya-Iwaki M (2000) Melon yellow spot virus: A

distinct species of the genus tospovirus isolated from melon. *Phytopathology* **90**, 422-426

- Kennedy BS, Nielsen MT (1993) Characterisation of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* (TSWV) resistance in the tobacco cultivar 'Polalta'. *Phytopathology* **83**, 1420
- Kim JW, Sun SM, German TL (1994) Disease resistance in tobacco and tomato plants transformed with the tomato spotted wilt virus nucleocapsid gene. *Plant Disease* 78, 615-621
- Kirk WD, Terry LI (2003) The spread of the western flower thrips Frankliniella occidentalis (Pergande). Agricultural and Forest Entomology 5, 301-310
- Kitajima EW, Resende RO, de Ávila AC, Goldbach RW, Peters D (1992) Immuno-electron microscopical detection of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* and its nucleocapsids in crude plant extracts. *Journal of Virological Methods* 38, 313-322
- Kormelink R, de Haan P, Meurs C, Peters D, Goldbach RW (1992) The nucleotide sequence of the M RNA segment of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*, a bunyavirus with two ambisense RNA segments. *Journal of General Virology* 73, 2795-2804
- Kormelink R, Kitajima EW, de Haan P, Zuidema D, Peters D, Goldbach RW (1991) The non-structural protein (NSs) encoded by the ambisense S RNA segment of tomato spotted wilt virus is associated with fiberous structures in infected plant cells. *Virology* 181, 459-468
- Kormelink R, Peters D, Goldbach R (1998) Tospovirus genus. AAB Description of Plant Viruses (Vol 363), Association of Applied Biologists, Warwick, UK. http://www.dpvweb.net/dpv/showadpv.php?dpvno=363
- Kormelink R, Storms M, van Lent J, Peters D, Goldbach RW (1994) Expression and subcelllular location of the NSm protein of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* (TSWV), a putative viral movement protein. *Virology* **200**, 56-65
- Krishna NK, Ullman DE, Cho JJ (1993) Evaluation of *Lycopersicon* germplasm for tomato spotted wilt tospovirus resistance with fiberous structures in infected plant cells. *Virology* 181, 459-468
- Kritzman A, Beckelman H, Alexandrov S Cohen J, Lampel M, Zeidan M, Raccah B, Gera A (2000) Lisianthus leaf necrosis: A new disease of lisianthus caused by iris yellow spot virus. *Plant Disease* 84, 1185-1189
- Latham LJ, Jones RA (1997) Occurrence of tomato spotted wilt virus in native flora, weeds and horticultural crops. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Re*search 48, 359-369
- Lavina A, Battle A (1994) First report of impatiens necrotic spot virus in Asplenium nidus-avis in Spain. Plant Disease 78, 316
- Law MD, Moyer JW (1989) Physicochemical properties analysis of a serologically distinct tomato spotted wilt virus strain. *Phytopathology* 79, 1157
- Law MD Speck J Moyer JW (1991) Nucleotide sequence of the 3' non-coding region and N gene of the S RNA of a serologically distinct tospovirus. *Journal of General Virology* 72, 2597-2601
- Law MD, Moyer JW (1990) A tomato spotted wilt like virus with a serologically distinct N protein. *Journal of General Virology* 71, 933-938
- Law MD, Speck J, Moyer JW (1992) The M RNA of Impatients necrotic spot tospovirus (Bunyaviridae) has an ambisense genomic organization. *Virology* 188, 732-741
- Laws N (2004) UN data: 2001 floriculture imports. FloraCulture International, Article Archive 701
- Lawson RH, Dienelt MM, Hsu HT (1993) Effects of passaging a defective isolate of impatiens necrotic spot virus at different temperatures. *Phytopathology* 83, 662-670
- Lee AM, Persley DM, Thomas JE (2002) A new tospovirus serogroup IV species infecting capsicum and tomato in Queensland, Australia. *Australian Plant Pathology* **31**, 231-239
- Lewis T (1973) Thrips: Their Biology, Ecology and Economic Importance, Academic Press, New York, 349 pp
- Lin H, Chen C, Hsu T,Liu L, Chu H, Chen C, Lin Z Yeh D (2005) Serological comparison and molecular characterization for verification of *Calla lily chorotic spot virus* as a new tospovirus species belonging to *Watermelon silver mottle virus* serogroup. *Phytopathology* **95**, 1482-1488
- Lin Y, Chen T, Chung M, Yeh S (2006) Sequence analysis of S RNA of *Calla lily chlorotic spot virus*, a new tospovirus. *Acta Horticulturae* **722**, 103-110
- Lindquist RK (1998) Fungus gnats and shore fly management. 14th Conference on Insect and Disease Management on Ornamentals, Del Mar, Alexandria, VA, pp 45-51
- Loebenstein G, Lawson RH, Brunt AA (1995) Virus and Virus-Like Diseases of Bulb and Flower Crops, Wiley and Sons, Chichester, 543 pp
- Ludwig GV, Christensen BM, Yuill TM, Schultz KT (1989) Enzyme processsing of La Crosse virus glycoprotein G1: A Bunyavirus-vector infection model. *Virology* 171, 108-113
- Ludwig S, Oetting R (2001) Effect of spinosad on *Orius insidiosus* (Hemiptera: Anthocoridae) when used for *Frankliniella occidentalis* (Thysanoptera: thripidae) control on greenhouse pot chrysanthemums. *Florida Entomologists* **84**, 311-313
- Maiss E (1995) Molecular characterization of the small RNA of a tospovirus belonging to serogroup IV. *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, Taiwan, p 31
- Mandal B, Pappu HR, Csinos AS, Culbreath AK (2006) Response of peanut, pepper, tobacco and tomato cultivars to two biologically distinct isolates of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Plant Disease* 90, 1150-1155
- Marchoux G, Gebre-Selassie K, Villevielle M (1991) Detection of Tomato

spotted wilt virus and transmission by Frankliniella occidentalis in France. Plant Pathology 40, 347-352

- Marsh M (1984) The entry of enveloped viruses into cells by endocytosis. Biochemistry Journal 218, 1-10
- Matteoni JA, Allen WR (1989) Symptomatology of tomato spotted wilt virus infection in florist's chrysanthemum. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* 11, 373-380
- Matthews RE (1982) Classification and nomenclature of viruses: Fourth report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. *Intervirology* 17, 1-200
- McDonough MJ, Gerace D, Ascerno ME (1999) Western flower thrips feeding scars and tospovirus lesions on petunia indicator plant. Available online: http://www.extension.umn.edu/distribution/horticulturae/DG7375.html
- McMichael LA, Persley DM, Thomas JE (2002) A new tospovirus serogroup IV species infecting capsicum and tomato in Queensland, Australia. *Australa*sian Plant Pathology **31**, 231-239
- Medeiros RB, Resende RO, de Ávila AC (2004) The plant virus tomato spotted wilt tospovirus activates the immune system of its main insect vector, *Frankliniella occidentalis. Journal of Virology* 78, 4976-4982
- Mehraban AH, Saaijer J, Peters D, Goldbach R, Kormelink R (2005) A new tomato infecting tospovirus from Iran. *Phytopathology* **95**, 852-858
- Mertelik J, Götzová B, Mokra V (1996) Epidemical aspects of tomato spotted wilt virus infection in the Czech Republic. Acta Horticulturae 432, 368-376
- Mertelik J, Mokra V (1998) Tomato spotted wilt virus in ornamental plants, vegetables and weeds in the Czech Republic. Acta Virologica 42, 347-351
- Mohamed NA (1981) Isolation and characterization of subviral structures from Tomato spotted wilt virus. Journal of General Virology 53, 197-206
- Mound LA (1996) The Thysanoptera vector species of tospoviruses. Acta Horticulturae 431, 298-306
- Mound LA (1998) So many thrips so few tospoviruses? 7th International Symposium on Thysanoptera, Reggio Calabria, Italy, pp 15-18
- Moyer JW, German T, Sherwood JL, Ullman D (1999) An update on *Tomato* spotted wilt virus and related tospoviruses. Available online: www.apsnet.org/ online/feature/tospovirus
- **Mumford RA** (1995) The diagnosis and characterization of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. PhD Thesis, University of Birmingham, UK
- Mumford RA, Barker I, Wood KR (1994) Detection of Tomato spotted wilt virus using the polymerase chain reaction. Journal of Virological Methods 46, 303-311
- Mumford RA, Barker I, Wood KR (1996) The biology of tospoviruses. Annals of Applied Biology 128, 159-183
- Mumford RA, Jarvis B, Morris J, Blockley A (2003) First record of Chrysanthemum stem necrosis virus (CSNV) in the UK. Plant Pathology 52, 779
- Murphy FA, Fauquet GM, Bishop DH, Ghabrial SA, Jarvis AW, Martelli GP, Mayo MA, Summers MD (1995) Virus Taxonomy. 6th Report of International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Archives of Virology 10 (Suppl.), 1-586
- Nagata T, Almeida AC (1999) The identification of the vector species of *Iris* yellow spot tospovirus occurring on onion in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 83, 399
- Nagata T, Resende RO, Kitajima EW, Inoue-Nagata AK, de Ávila AC (1998) First report of natural occurrence of *Zucchini lethal chlorosis tospovirus* on cucumber and chrysanthemum stem necrosis tospovirus on tomato in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 82, 1403
- Nichol ST, Beaty BJ, Elliot RM, Goldbach R, Plyusnin A (2005) Bunyaviridae. In: Fauquet CM, Mayo M,A, Maniloff J, Desselberger U, Ball LA (Eds) Virus Taxonomy. Eight Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, pp 695-716
- Palmer JM, Reddy DV, Wightman JA, Ranga Rao GV (1991) New information on the thrips vectors of tomato spotted wilt virus in groundnut crops in India. *International Arachis Newsletter* 7, 24-25
- Pang S, Nagpala P, Wang M, Slightom JL, Gonsalves D (1992) Resistance to heterologous isolates of tomato spotted wilt virus in transgenic tobacco expressing its nucleocapsid protein gene. *Phytopathology* 82, 1223-1229
- Pappu SS, Bhat AI, Pappu HR, Dem CM, Culbreath AK (2000) Phylogenetic studies of tospoviruses (Family:Bromoviridae) based on intergenic region sequences of small and medium genomic RNAs. Archives of Virology 145, 1035-1045
- Parella G, Gognalons P, Gebre-Selassie K, Vovlas C, Marchoux G (2003) An update of the host range of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. *Plant Pathology* 85, 1-38
- Parella MP (1995) Thrips management guide. Part I: prevention and control. Grower Talks 58, 30-38
- Patel AH, Elliott RM (1992) Characterization of Bunyamwera virus defective interfering particles. *Journal of General Virology* **73**, 389-396
- Persley DM, Thomas JE, Sharman M (2006) Tospoviruses an Australian perspective. Australasian Plant Pathology 35, 161-180
- Peters D (2003) Tospoviruses: In: Loebenstein G, Thottappilly G (Eds) Virus and Virus-Like Diseases of Major Crops in Developing Countries, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 719-742
- Pittman HA (1927) Spotted wilt of tomatoes. Journal of Australian Council for Science and Industrial Research 1, 74-77
- Poch O, Sauvagel I, Delarue M, Tordo N (1989) Identification of four conserved motifs among the RNA-dependent polymerase encoding elements.

The EMBO Journal **8**, 3867-3874

- **Powell CC, Lindquist RK** (1997) Ball Pest and Disease Mamal: Disease, Insect, and Mite Control on Flower and Foliage Crops, Ball Publishing, Batavia, 448 pp
- Pozzer L, Bezzera IC, Kormelink R, Prins M, Peters D (1999) Characterization of a tospovirus isolate of *Iris yellow spot virus* associated with a disease in onion fields in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 83, 345-350
- Premachandra WT, Borgemeister C, Maiss E, Knierim D, Poehling HM (2005) Ceratothripoides claratris, a new vector of capsicum chlorosis virus isolate infecting tomatoes in Thailand. *Phytopathology* 95, 659-663
- Pundt LS (2001) Using indicator plants to detect tospoviruses. *Yankee Grower* 3, 3-5
- Ramasso E, Dellavalle G, Roggero P, Lisa V (1994) New hosts of tospoviruses in ornamental plants and vegetables in Liguria. *Informatore Fitopatologico* 44, 44-48
- Ravnikar M, Vozelj N, Mavric I, Gvigelj SD, Upanec M, Petrovic N (2003) Detection of Chrysanthemum stem necrosis virus and Tomato spotted wilt virus in chrysanthemum. 8th International Congress of Plant Pathology ICPP, Christchurch, NZ, p 306
- Reddy DV, Ratna AS, Sudarshana MR, Poul F, Kumar I (1992) Serological relationships and purification of bud necrosis virus, a tospovirus occurring in peanut, Arachis hypogea L. in India. Annals of Applied Biology 120, 279-286
- Reddy DV, Amin PV, McDonald D, Ghanekar AM (1983) Epidemiology and control of groundnut bud necrosis and other diseases of legume crops in India caused by tomato spotted wilt virus. In: Plumb RT, Thresh JM (Eds) *Plant Virus Epidemiology*, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 93-102
- Reddy, DV Sudarshana MR, Ratna AS, Reddy AS, Amin PW, Kumar IK, Murthy AK (1991) The occurrence of yellow spot virus, a member of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* group, on peanut (*Arachis hypogea* L.) in India. In: Hsu HT, Lawson RH (Eds) Virus-Thrips-Plant Interactions of Tomato Spotted wilt Virus. Proceedings of the USDA Agricultural Research Service, ARS 87, Beltsville, pp 77-88
- Reifschneider FJ, Cafe AC, Dusi AN, Kitajima EW (1989) Brown pod, a disease caused by *Tomato spotted wilt virus* on peas in Brazil. *Tropical Pest Management* 35, 304-306
- Resende R, de Haan P, de Ávila AC, Kitajima EW, Kormelink R, Goldbach R, Peters D (1991) Generation of envelop and defective interfering RNA mutants of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* by mechanical passage. *Journal of General Virology* 72, 2375-2383
- Resende R, de Haan P, van de Vossen E, de Ávila AC, Goldbach RW, Peters D (1992) Defective interfering L RNA segments of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* retain both virus genome termini and have extensive internal deletions. *Journal of General Virology* **73**, 2509-2516
- Resende R, Pozzer L, Nagata T, Bezerra IC, Lima MI, Giordano L, Kitajima EW, de Ávila AC (1996) New tospoviruses found in Brazil. Acta Horticulturae 432, 78-89
- Rice DJ, German TL, Mau RF, Fujimoto FM (1990) Dot blot detection of Tomato spotted wilt virus RNA in plant and thrips tissues by cDNA clones. Plant Disease 74, 274-276
- **Robb KL** (1989) Analysis of *Frankliniella* occidentallis (Pergande) as a pest of floriculture crops in California greenhouses. PhD dissertation, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, 135 pp
- Robb KL (1998) Insecticide resistance management for ornamental plant protection. 14th Conference on Insect and Disease Management on Ornamentals, Del Mar Alexandria, VA, pp 67-75
- Robb KL, Casey C, Whitfield A, Campbell L (1998) A new weapon to fight INSV and TSWV. *Grower Talks* 61, 63-73
- Robb KL, Parella MP (1995) IPM of western flower thrips. In: Parker BL, Skinner M, Lewis T (Eds) *Thrips Biology and Management*, Plenum Press, New York, pp 365-370
- Roberts CA, Dietzgen RG, Heelan LA, Maclean DJ (2000) Realtime RT-PCR fluorescent detection of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. *Journal of Virological Methods* 88, 1-8
- Roggero P, Masenga V, Tavella L (2002) Field isolates of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* overcoming resistance in pepper and their spread to other hosts in Italy. *Plant Disease* **86**, 950-954
- Roggero P, Ciuffo M, Dellavalle G, Gutta P, Gallo S, Peters D (1999) Additional ornamental species as hosts of impatiens necrotic spot virus in Italy. *Plant Disease* 83, 967
- Ronco AE, Dal Bo E, Ghiringhelli PD, Medrano C, Romanowski V, Sarachu AN, Grau O (1989) Cloned cDNA probes for the detection of *Tomato* spotted wilt virus. Phytopathology **79**, 1309-1313
- Sakimura K (1962) The present status of thrips-borne viruses. In: Maramorosh K (Ed) *Biological Transmission of Disease Agents*, Academic Press, New York, pp 33-40
- Sakimura K (1963) Frankliniella fusca, an additional vector for the Tomato spotted wilt virus, with note on Thrips tabaci, another vector. Phytopathology 3, 412-415
- Samuel G, Bald JG, Pittman HA (1930) Investigations on 'spotted wilt' of tomatoes. Australian Council of Science and Industrial Research Bulletin 44, 64
- Satyanarayana T, Gowda S, Reddy KL, Mitchell SE, Dawson WO, Reddy DW (1998) Peanut yellow spot virus is a member of a new serogroup of tos-

povirus genus based on small (S) RNA sequence an organization. Archives of Virology 143, 353-364

- Satyanarayana T, Mitchell SE, Reddy DV, Brown S, Kresovich S, Jarret R, Naidu RA, Demski JW (1995) Peanut bud necrosis tospovirus: purification of nucleocapsid, and sequence homology of nucleoapsid and glycoprotein precursor proteins with other tospoviruses. *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, p 38
- Satyanarayana T, Reddy KL, Ratna AS, Deom CM, Gowda S, Reddy DV (1996) Peanut yellow spot virus: a distinct tospovirus species based on serology and nucleic acid hybridization. Annals of Applied Biology 129, 237-245
- Schwartz HF, Brown WM, Blunt T, Gent DH (2002) Iris yellow spot virus on onion in Colorado. Plant Disease 86, 560
- Sdoodee R, Teakle DS (1987) Transmission of tobacco streak virus by *Thrips tabaci*. A new method of plant virus transmission. *Plant Pathology* 36, 377-380
- Sherman JM, Moyer JW, Daub ME (1995) Genetically-engineered resistance to tomato spotted wilt virus in chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema grandiflora*): a model system for virus protection in ornamental crops. *International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops*, Taichung, Taiwan, p 34
- Sherman JM, Moyer JW, Daub ME (1998) Tomato spotted wilt virus resistance in Crysanthemum expressing viral nucleocapsid gene. Plant Disease 83, 407-414
- Sherwood JL, German TL, Whitfield AE, Moyer JW, Ullman DE (2000) Tomato spotted wilt. In: Maloy OC, Murray TD (Eds) *Encyclopedia of Plant Pathology*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp 1034-1040
- Singh SJ, Krishnareddy M (1995) Watermelon bud necrosis: a new tospovirus disease. Acta Horticulturae 431, 68
- Smith KM (1931) Studies on potato virus diseases VIII. On a ringspot virus affecting solanaceous plants. Annals of Applied Biology 18, 1-15
- Swift CE (2003) Tomato spotted wilt virus. Available online: http://www. colostate.edu/depts/CoopExt/TRA/PLANTS/tswilt.html
- Takács A, Jenser G, Kazinczi G, Horváth J (2006) Natural weed hosts of Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV) in Hungary. Cereal Research Communications 34, 685-688
- Tas PW, Boerjan ML, Peters D (1977) The structural proteins of Tomato spotted wilt virus. Journal of General Virology 36, 267-279
- Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) (2006) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol II), Global Science Books, Isleworth, pp 1-243
- Tóth EK, Kriston É, Takács A, Bajtek M, Kazinczi G, Horváth J (2007) First report of *Impatiens necrotic spot virus* in ornamental plants in Hungary. *Plant Disease* **91**, 331
- Uga H, Tsuda S (2005) A one-step reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction system for the simultaneous detection and identification of multiple tospovirus infections. *Phytopathology* 95, 166-171
- Ullman DE (1998) Managing tospoviruses: developing a monitoring system for grower decision making. 14th Conference on Insect and Disease Management on Ornamentals, Del Mar, CA, Society of American Florists, Alexandria, VA, pp 9-12
- Ullman DE, Cho JJ, Mau RF, Hunter Wb Westcot DM, Custer DM (1992) Thrips-tomato spotted wilt virus interactions: morphological, behavioural and cellular components influencing thrips transmission. *Advances in Diseases Vector Research* **9**, 196-240
- Ullman DE, German TL, Sherwood JL, Westcot DM, Cantone FA (1993) Tospovirus replication in insect vector cells: immunocytochemical evidence that the nonstructural protein encoded by the S RNA of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* is present in thrips vector cells. *Phytopathology* **83**, 456-463
- Ullman DE, Westcot DM, Sherwood JL, German TL (1995) Potential mechanisms for tomato spotted wilt tospovirus movement between thrips cells. International Symposium on Tospoviruses and Thrips of Floral and Vegetable Crops, Taichung, Taiwan, p 47

- Umeya K, Kudo I, Miyazaki M (1988) Pest Thrips in Japan, Zenkoku Noson Kyoiku Publishing Co., Tokyo, 422 pp
- Urban LA, Huang PY, Moyer JW (1991) Cytoplasmic inclusions in cells infected with isolates of L and I serogroups of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. *Phytopathology* 81, 525-529
- Urban LA, Sherman JM, Moyer JW, Daub ME (1994) High-frequency shoot regeneration and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema grandiflora*). *Plant Science* **98**, 69-79
- Vaira AM, Roggero P, Luisoni E, Masenga V, Milne RG, Lisa V (1993) Characterization of two tospoviruses in Italy: tomato spotted wilt and impatiens necrotic spot. *Plant Pathology* 42, 530-542
- Vaira AM, Besio T, Accotio GR, Vecchiati M, Allavena A (2000) Evaluation of resistance in *Osteospermum ecklonis* (DC.) Norl. plants transgenic for the N protein gene of tomato spotted wilt virus. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 983-988
- van Poelwijk F, Boye K, Oosterling R, Peters D, Goldbach RW (1993) Detection of the L protein of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*. Virology 197, 468-470
- Verhoeven JT, Roenhorst JW, Cotes I, Peters D (1996) Detection of a novel tospovirus in chrysanthemum. Acta Horticulturae 432, 44-51
- Verkleij FN, Peters D (1983) Characterization of a defective form of Tomato spotted wilt virus. Journal of General Virology 64, 677-686
- Vicchi V, Bellardi MG (1996) Evaluation of the ELISA technique in the diagnosis of tospoviruses in ornamental plants. *Informatore Fitopatologico* 46, 60-63
- Vijayalakshmi NR (1994) PhD thesis, Andhra Pradesh Agricultural University, India
- Vozelj, N, Petrovic N, Novak MP, Tusek M, Mavric I, Ravnikar M (2003) The most frequent viruses on selected ornamental plants and vegetables in Slovenia. 6th Slovenian Conference on Plant Protection, Zrece, pp 300-304
- Wang M, Cho JJ, Hu JS (1992) Identification and incorporation of TSWV resistance into commercial lettuce. *Phytopathology* 82, 1087
- Whitfield AE, Campbell RL, Sherwood JL, Ullman DE (2003) Tissue blot immunoassay for detection of tomato spotted wilt virus in *Ranunculus asiaticus* and other ornamentals. *Plant Disease* 87, 618-622
- Wijkamp I, Peters D (1993) Determination of the median latent period of two tospoviruses in *Frankliniella occidentalis*, using a novel leaf disc array. *Phy*topathology 83, 986-991
- Wijkamp I, Almarza N, Goldbach R, Peters D (1995) Distinct levels of specifity in thrips transmission of tospoviruses. *Phytopathology* 85, 1069-1074
- Wijkamp, I, van Lent J, Kormelink R, Goldbach RW, Peters D (1993) Multiplication of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* in its insect vector, *Frankliniella occidentalis. Journal of General Virology* 74, 341-349
- Wilson CR (2001) Resistance to infection and translocation of *Tomato spotted* wilt virus in potatoes. *Plant Pathology* **50**, 402-410
- Wood KR, Mumford RA, Weekes RJ, Barker I (1995) Diagnosis of tospoviruses by RT-PCR. International Symposium on Tospoviruses of Floral and Vegetable Crops, Taichung, Taiwan, p 48
- Xia Y, Deng X, Zhou P, Shima K, Teixeira da Silva JA (2006) The world floriculture industry: dynamics of production and markets. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol IV), Global Science Books, Isleworth, pp 336-347
- Xu M, Li H, Wang M, Wu Z, Borth W, Hsu H, Hu J (2006) Transgenic plants expressing a single-chain Fv antibody to *Tomato spotted will virus* (TSWV) are resistant to TSWV systemic infection. *Acta Horticulturae* 722, 337-348
- Yeh SD, Chang TF (1995) Nucleotide-sequence of the N-gene of Watermelon silver mottle virus, a proposed new member of the genus tospovirus. *Phyto*pathology 85, 58-64
- Yeh SD, Cheng YH, Jih CL, Chen MJ, Chen CC (1992) Identification of Tomato spotted wilt virus on watermelon in Taiwan. Plant Disease 76, 835-840